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Results from
pivotal Phase 3
clinical trial show
that Nexavar
doubled median
progression-free
survival in
patients with
advanced kidney
cancer,
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Topline results
from pivoral
study demonstrate
superior overall
survival in
Nexavar-treated
patients over
placebo-treated
patients.
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First systemic
agent to show

a significant
survival advantage
according to
Phase 3 results
presented at the
American Society
of Clinical
Oncology
(ASCO) meeting.
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First two studies
of Nexavar in
breast cancer are
initiated as part
of a comprehen-
sive program
developed in
collaboration with
renowned experts.
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Topline results
from Asia-Pacific
regional study
show that Nexavar
significantly
improved overalt
survival in liver
cancer patients.
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“OUR TRACK RECORD OVER THE
PAST YEAR POINTS TO OUR AP J
ROGERESS IN DEVELOR
TO BENEFIT AN INCREASING
NUMBER OF CANCER PATIENTS.”
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The Committee
for Medicinal
Products for
Human Use
({CHMP) issues

a positive assess-
ment of Nexavar,
recommending
that marketing
approval be granted
in Europe.
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Data from a
96-patient

Phase 2 study
demonstrated
that Nexavar
plus doxorubicin
improved overall
survival, support-
ing the growing
body of evidence
of the activity of
Nexavar in hepa-
tocellular carcino-

ma (HCC).
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European
Commission
grants matketing
authorization to
Nexavar for the
treatment of

patients with
HCC.
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The FDA approves
supplemental
New Drug
Application

for Nexavar for
the treatment

of patients

with unresectable
HCC.
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Revenue growth
driven by strong
performance of
the Nexavar
franchise in both
the U.S. and
internationally.
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JIM, 60, had no idea he had cancer
in his right kidney, as well as evidd
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DAVID'S diagnasis of liver cancer in June 2007 did not come as a complete surprise. He was experiencing abdominal swelling

and pain, and had a history of heparitis C, acquired while serving in Vietnam. His scan showed a large mass covering half
of his liver, with hundreds of small nodules scattered throughout the odher half. Told his cancer was oo advanced for surgery
and suffering from severe symproms that kept him from working, David was nat optimistic abhourt the future. His doctor
suggested Nexavar treaument as a wav o improve his qualiey of fife. After one month of therapy, his mobility increased. and
he was able 1o rerurn 1o work par-time. Seans have confirmed tha the main wmer is sieadily shrinking, As a resule. David

was able 1o join his family in celebrating Christmas—which just happened 1o be his 57¢h birthday as well.

This pattems ouwome showdd not be considerad indicatine of out omes thae ol pattienes onay expericoee wich Nevavar,
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THE DAY

HE BASKED IN THE W
MYRTLE BEACH SUN

PAUL’SWIddney cancer was discovered during a routine physical in 1999, and further tests showed that the disease had spread’

to his lymph nodes. An experimental therapy helped to stabilize his cancer, allowing him to have the affected kidney surgically

temoved in April 2001. Unfortunately, his cancer began to progress in late 2004, leading to treacment with chemotherapy”

‘and interferon. Debilitated by the side effects, he decided to retire in the summer of 2005, Several monihs later, his physician

-

prescrlbed Nexavar fo manage his cancer. More than two years later, Paul, 66, is still on Nexavar, although on a reduced

dosagé to help manage his gastrointestinal side effects. The good news is that all of his nodules have, shrunk, enabling him to

vacation in"Myrde Beach, where he enjoys ta.kmg\valks, attending live theater, and dining out with his wife of 43 years.

»

-
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This patient’s outcome should not be considered indicative of outcomes that other patients may experience with Nexavar.
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EVERY DAY
SUCCESS

NEXAVAR IS THE FIRST APPROVED

SYSTEMIC DRUG THERAPY FOR
LIVER CANCER IN THE UNITED STATES

AND EUROPE.




LIVER CANCER

= A 3C -]

Hepatocellular Carcinoma

APPROVED

aC —C

15t line, doxorubicin +/- PHASE 2

-

Post-TACE (Japan) PHASE 3

NEXAVAR IMPROVED OVERALL SURVIVAL BY

40/ 0 IN PATIENTS

WITH HEPATOCELLULAR CARCINOMA (HCC), THE MOST COMMON FORM OF

LIVER CANCER, IN A PIVOTAL PHASE 3 CLINICAL TRIAL.

In late 2007, Nexavar became the first and only approved systemic therapy for
HCC in the United States and Europe, addressing a major unmet medical need.
Liver cancer is the sixth most common tumor and the third leading cause of cancer
deaths worldwide, responsible for an estimated 600,000 annual deaths globally,
including approximately 70,000 in the U.S. and Europe. With very limited
treatment options, liver cancer patients who cannot be treated surgically currently

experience a five-year survival rate of less than 10 percent.

Nexavar's approval in this challenging indication was based on powerful clinical
efficacy and tolerability data. Results from the international Phase 3 Sorafenib
HCC Assessment Randomized Protocol (SHARP) trial demonstrated a 44 percent
improvement in overall survival in Nexavar-treated patients compared to those
receiving placebo. Median survival was extended to 11 months in the Nexavar
group versus eight months in the placebo-treated group. Importantly, there was no
major difference in the rate of serious adverse events between the two treatment
arms. The most common adverse events associated with Nexavar were diarrhea and
hand-foot skin reaction. Based on these positive results, we believe that Nexavar

will become the new systemic standard of care for patients with liver cancer.
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EVERY DAY
PROGRESS

WITH OUR COLLABORATOR, BAYER,
WE HAVE ESTABLISHED NEXAVAR
AS AN IMPORTANT THERAPY FOR
ADVANCED KIDNEY CANCER.




KIDNEY CANCER

.Advanced kidn‘egy cancer ) B - , .APPROVED
:i\djuvant B B B ;HASE3

.Dose escalatioln' ‘ !PHASE 2

.Comb‘mations B B , ;HASE 2

A TARGETED AGENT WITH A UNIQUE COMBINATION OF FEATURES, NEXAVAR IS

BENEFITING KIDNEY CANCER PATIENTS AROUND THE WORLD.

In late 2005, Nexavar became the first new drug approved in more than a decade
for patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma, the most common form of kidney
cancer—a devastating disease that strikes more than 200,000 people worldwide
each year, including 35,000 individuals in the U.S. Over the past two years,
Nexavar and other new targeted agents have expanded the therapeutic options for

kidney cancer patients and improved their outcomes.

We are focusing on Nexavar’s unique characteristics— proven efficacy, tolerability,
combinability, and convenient oral administration—to benefit kidney cancer
patients in more than 60 countries. Nexavar is currently being tested in two long-
term Phase 3 adjuvant studies in the U.S. and Europe designed to evaluate the
agent’s ability to delay disease progression following surgery. In addition, there are
Phase 2 trials designed to evaluate Nexavar in combination with other anticancer
agents and to explore intrapatient dose escalation. These studies have the potential

to expand the use of Nexavar in kidney cancer.
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EWERY DAY
GROWTH

NEXAVAR IS CU QRE{:\\* LY APPROVED >

IN MORE THAN 60 COUNTRIES =
FOR ADVANCED KIDNEY CANCER AND
30 COUNTRIES FOR LIVER CANCER,
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EVERY DAY
POTENTIAL

WITH BAYER, WE ARE INVESTING IN
A BROAD DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
TO MAXIMIZE NEXAVAR’S VALUE
WORLDWIDE.




WITH APPROXIMATELY 200 TRIALS COMPLETED OR UNDER

WAY, WE ARE WORKING TO ESTABLISH NEXAVAR AS A SIGNIFICANT NEW

THERAPY FOR MANY DIFFERENT KINDS OF CANCER.

We are building on Nexavar’s proven efficacy and tolerability in two tough-to-trear
tumors by exploring its use as both a monotherapy and in combination with other
anticancer agents across a range of tumor types and treatment settings. Our most
advanced clinical programs are focused on adding Nexavar to standard-of-care
therapies for non-small cell lung cancer, metastatic breast cancer and melanoma,

tumors with significant unmer medical needs.

LUNG CANCER

1st line, gemcitabine/cisplatin +/- PHASE 3
2nd/3ed line (ECOG) PHASE 2

2nd line, Alimta +/- PHASE 2

1st ling, carboplatin/Alimta +/- PHASE 1

MELANOMA

1st line, carboplatin/paclitaxel +/- PHASE 3
[ 2C ]« r J w———————— |
Multiple lines, Temozolomide PHASE 2

BREAST CANCER

[ 1 ¢ —3C p ] rva !

15t line, paclitaxel +/- PHASE 2

— I 31—

1st/2nd line, capecitabine +/- PHASE 2

. o I + 4 4 =

1st/2nd line, gemcitabine +/- PHASE 2

[ = = o —sn s [ e §

15t line, docetaxel or letrozole +/- PHASE 2

[ 1 1 1=

1st/2nd line, aromatase inhibitors +/- PHASE 2
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A PROVEN ANTICANCER THERARPY,




DEAR STOCKHOLDERS:

2007 WAS AN EXCITING YEAR FOR
ONYX, CHARACTERIZED BY RECORD
NEXAVAR SALES GROWTH AND

VALUE-BUILDING ACHIEVEMENTS.

With a proven drug now approved in two important cancer indications, a strong
collaboration with Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals, and a comprehensive joint
development program to maximize Nexavar’s value, we are delivering on our vision
of Changing the Way Cancer is Treated ™.

OUR TRACK RECORD OVER THE PAST YEAR DEMONSTRATES THAT WE, TOGETHER WITH BAYER,
ARE WELL ON OUR WAY TO MEETING OUR OBJECTIVE OF ESTABLISHING NEXAVAR AS A
FOUNDATIONAL AGENT IN THE TREATMENT OF CANCER. Nexavar is a targeted oral drug
that acts against cancer by inhibiting proliferation and angiogenesis— two funda-
mental mechanisms associated with the growth of tumors. Nexavar has been
shown to prolong survival, and its efficacy and tolerability have been proven in two
difficult tumors as a single therapy. Based on its activity, tolerability, convenience,
combinability and oral availability, we believe Nexavar has the potential to benefit
patients living with many different types of cancer.

WITHOUT QUESTION, THE HIGHLIGHT OF THE YEAR WAS THE APPROVAL OF NEXAVAR

FOR HEPATOCELLULAR CARCINOMA (HCC), OR LIVER CANCER, FIRST BY THE EUROPEAN
COMMISSION IN OCTOBER, THEN BY THE U.S. FDA IN NOVEMBER. The rapid time from
the filing of our application to approval underscores the tremendous unmet need
of patients suffering from this devastating disease, which results in more than
625,000 new cases worldwide each year. In three different randomized clinical trials,
Nexavar showed a significant survival advantage in liver cancer patients, leading
the independent data monitoring committee in each case to recommend thar the
studies be stopped eatly. These include a large, internarional Phase 3 single-agent
study in advanced HCC patients, a similarly designed Asia-Pacific regional Phase 3
trial, and a Phase 2 study comparing Nexavar plus doxerubicin to doxorubicin alone.

We expect thart sales of Nexavar for the treatment of liver cancer patients will

drive short- and long-term revenue growth. As this is a new market, with Bayer,
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NEXAVAR NET SALES

$372 MILLION IN 2007

1 we are implementing a comprehensive launch plan for Nexavar in this indication,
120 leveraging our existing infrastrucrure to target oncologists, as well as a range of
o0 4Q07 other clinical care providers, while continuing to submit regulatory filings in other
"3:?057 countries worldwide. With the first and only systemic therapy approved for liver
8 cancet, we expect that Nexavar will become the new systemic standard of care in
s81 . . . . . .
6o 2007 this difficult disease. And as we and Bayer pioneer this new opportunity, we will
$61 refine our understanding of the market, both in the U.S. and globally.
40 1Q07
20 WITH BAYER, WE ARE WORKING TO ESTABLISH NEXAVAR AS A STANDARD OF CARE IN THE
TREATMENT OF ADVANCED KIDNEY CANCER, OR RENAL CELL CARCINOMA (RCC), Although
0 the overall expansion of the kidney cancer market seems to be moderating due to the

introduction and rapid uptake of new targeted therapies, we believe that Nexavar
will continue to play an imporrant role in this disease since patients today are living
longer and being treated sequentially with multiple agents. With the continued
approval of new agents, competition in this market is increasing, and this is expected

to continue. To support Nexavar sales in kidney cancer going forward, we are

continuing to generate data from two Phase 3 adjuvant trials and from several
Phase 2 studies evaluating the agent’s use at higher doses and in combination with

other anticancer agents.

WE ARE AGGRESSIVELY INVESTING IN AN EXTENSIVE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM TO REALYZE THE
FULL CLINICAL AND COMMERCIAL POTENTIAL OF NEXAVAR—EXTENDING QUR FOCUS FROM
UNDERSERVED TUMORS TO COMMON TUMORS WITH SIGNIFICANT UNMET TREATMENT NEEDS,
We are acrively evaluating the utility of adding Nexavar to existing traditional and
novel drug regimens in patients with non-small cell lung cancer, melanoma and
metastatic breast cancer, as well as other tumors. As it is impossible to predicc in
which patient groups Nexavar will be active, we believe it is extremely important

to have a broad development program within and across different tumor types.

While a non-small cell lung cancer Phase 3 study evaluating combination therapy

with carboplatin and paclitaxel was stopped because it would not meet its primary

endpoint, we are still exploring potential opportunities in this indication with
different combinations and in different settings. In breast cancer, patient enrollment
has begun in five large, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 2 studies
for patients with HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer. These trials will compare
Nexavar to placebo in combination with chemotherapy, hormonal or other targeted
agents. Qur goal with these studies, which represent a comprehensive, multinational

18
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the 29th of October

EUROPEAN COMMISSION APPROVES NEXAVAR
FOR THE TREATMENT OF PATIENTS WITH HCC,

program being conducted in collaboration with renowned breast cancer experts, is
to define a path forward for Phase 3 clinical development. In advanced melanoma,
a Phase 3 trial sponsored by the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group, or ECOG, is
under way. This study is designed to compare overall survival of chemo-naive patients

treated with carboplatin and paclitaxel to those receiving these agents plus Nexavar.

FINANCIALLY, WE ARE IN A STRONG POSITION TO PURSUE OUR STRATEGIC GOAL OF MAXIMIZING
NEXAVAR’S VALUE ACROSS A RANGE OF TUMOR TYPES. With Bayer, our continued success
in commercializing the agent worldwide is reflected in overall 2007 net sales of
$372 million, reflecting 125% growth over 2006. These revenues are recorded by
Bayer, and we share equally in the profit, with the exception of sales in Japan. We
also have a healthy balance sheet, including $470 million in cash, cash equivalents,
and marketable securities. As a result, we are well positioned to invest in Nexavar's
worldwide launch in liver cancer as well as to advance our comprehensive clinical
development program, initiating additional trials and generating new dara that we

believe will lead to better treatment options for cancer patients.

The past year has been tremendously eventful and productive, and all of us at Onyx
are proud of the progress we are making in helping patients and building our company.
After 15 years leading Onyx, I will be retiring as President, CEO and Chairman

of the Board effective March 31, 2008. I would like to extend a warm welcome to
N. Anthony (Tony) Coles, M.D. who will be succeeding me as President and Chief
Execurive Officer. Tony will also be joining our Board.

As Onyx moves forward, | am extremely confident in our ability to develop
Nexavar to benefit an increasing number of patients and to fulfill our vision
of Changing the Way Cancer is Treated ™. 1 would like to thank our employees,
collaborarors, stockholders, physicians, patients, and families for their assistance

in this valuable efforr.

i ot

Hollings C. Renton
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
March 3, 2008
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SEC Form 10-K

A copy of the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K,
as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission,
is available without charge
by calling or writing the
Investor Relations
Department as listed under
Stockholder Inquiries.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Inquiries regarding change

of address, lost stock
certificates, changes in

stock ownership, and other
matters related to stock
ownership should be directed
to the Transfer Agent.

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Wells Fargo
Shareowner Services

For telephone inquiries:
(800) 468-9716

For overnight delivery:
161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, MN 55075-1139

For mail delivery:
P.O. Box 64874
St. Paul, MN
55164-0874

Stockholder Inquiries
Inquiries and requests
far information should
be directed to:

Investor Retations

Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
2100 Powell Street
Emeryville, CA 94608

(510) 597-6500

email: ir@onyx-pharm.com
www.onyx-pharm.com

Dividends

Onyx has not paid cash
dividends on its commaon
stock and does not plan
to pay any cash dividends
in the foreseeable future.

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of
stockholders will be

held at 10:00 a.m. PT

on May 14, 2008, at

Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
2100 Powell Street,
Emeryville, CA.

*Retiring March 31, 2008
**Effective March 31, 2008

***|ead Director,
Onyx Pharmaceuticals
effective March 31, 2008

Forward-looking Statements: This annual report contains forward-looking statements that invalve risks and uncertainties including statements about our
business and the development and commercialization of Nexavar. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factars, including those set forth under “Business” and “Risk Factars,” and elsewhere in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Trademarks: Changing the way cancer is treated™ is a trademark of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Nexavar® (sarafenib) tablets is a trademark of Bayer Pharmaceuticals Corparation.
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
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O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM TO

Commission File No. 0-28298

Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
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Securities Act. Yes No OO

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports purseant to Section 13 or Section 15(d} of
the Act. Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
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Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes No O )

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (Sec-
tion 229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge,
in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated
filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller
reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer Bl  Accelerated filer 0  Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act): Yes 0O No &

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by nonaffiliates of the Registrant based upon the last trade
price of the common stock reported on the Nasdaq Global Market on June 30, 2007 was approximately
$878,707.115.*

The number of shares of common stock outstanding as of February 25, 2008 was 55,399,388.




DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which
will be filed with the Commission within 120 days of December 31, 2007, are incorporated herein by reference into
Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. '

* Excludes 21,919,929 shares of Common Stock held by directors, officers and stockholders whose beneficial
ownership exceeds 5% of the Registrant’s Common, Stock outstanding. The number of shares owned by
stockholders whose beneficial ownership exceeds 5% was determined based upon information supplied by such
persons and upon Schedules 13D and 13G, if any, filed with the SEC. Exclusion of shares held by any person
should not be construed to indicate that such person possesses the power, direct or indirect, to direct or cause the
direction of the management or policies of the Regisirant, that such person is controlled by or under common
control with the Registrant, or that such persons are affiliates for any other purpose.
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- PART L.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21 E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s results, levels of activity, or
achievements to differ significantly and materially from that expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. These factors include, among others, those set forth in Item IA “Risk Factors™ and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as
“may,” “will” “should” “intend,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,
“continue,” or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology.

[T [T ” "o LI

potential,” or

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot
guarantee future results, events, levels of activity, performance or achievements. We do not assume responsibiliry
for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. We do not intend to update any of the
forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to conform these statements to actual
results, unless required by law.

EERRT) LEANT)

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to “the Company,” "Onyx,” “we,” “our” and “us” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing innovative therapies that target the molecular
mechanisms that cause cancer. With our collaborators, we are developing small molecule drugs with the goal of
changing the way cancer is treated ™. We are applying our expertise to develop and commercialize oral anticancer
therapies designed to prevent cancer cell proliferation and angiogenesis by inhibiting proteins that signal or support
tumor growth. By exploiting the genetic differences between cancer cells and normal cells, we aim to develop and
market novel anticancer agents that minimize damage to healthy tissue. Qur first commercially available product,
Nexavar® (sorafenib) tablets, being developed with our coilaborator, Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc., or
Bayer, is approved by the United States Food and Dreg Administration, or FDA, for advanced kidney cancer and
liver cancer, Nexavar is a novel, orally available kinase and angiogenesis inhibitor and is one of a new class of
anticancer treatments that target signaling pathways important to the proliferation of cancer cells. In December
2005, Nexavar became the first newly approved drug for patients with advanced kidney cancer in over a decade.
Subsequently, in the fourth quarter of 2007, Nexavar was approved as the first and is currently the only systemic
therapy for the treatment of patients with liver cancer, Nexavar is now approved in more than 60 countries for the
treatment of advanced kidney cancer and in more than 30 countries for the treatment of liver cancer.

Products
Nexavar

Nexavar is an orally active agent designed to operate through dual mechanisms of action by inhibiting angiogenesis
and the proliferation of cancer cells. A common feature of cancer cells is the excessive activation of signaling
pathways that cause abnormal cell proliferation. In addition, tumors require oxygen and nutrients from newly
formed blood vessels to support their growth, The formation of these new blood vessels is a process called
angiogenesis. Nexavar inhibits the signaling of VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, VEGFR-3 and PDGFR-B, key receptors of
Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor, or VEGF, and Platelet-Derived Growth Factor, or PDGF. Both receptors play a
role in angiogenesis. In addition, Nexavar also inhibits RAF kinase, an enzyme in the RAS signaling pathway that
has been shown in preclinical models to be important in cell proliferation. In normal cell proliferation, when the
RAS signaling pathway is activated, or turned “on,” it sends a signal telling the cell to grow and divide. When a gene
in the RAS signaling pathway is mutated, the signal may not turn “off as it should, causing the cell to continuously
reproduce itself. The RAS signaling pathway plays an integral role in the growth of some tumor types such as liver
cancer, melanoma and lung cancer, and we believe that inhibiting this pathway could have an effect on tumor
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growth. Nexavar also inhibits other kinases involved in cancer, such as KIT, FLT-3 and RET. The following is a

listing of our products and their current status,

Product/Program

Nexavar
{sorafenib) tablets

Indication

Advanced kidney cancer
Liver cancer

Combination trials for non-small cell lung
cancer

Current
Status

Approved in United States, European
Union and other territories worldwide

Approved in the United States, European
Union and other territories worldwide

Phase 3

Combination trial for metastatic melanoma  Phase 3
Combination trials for breast, kidney, and Phase 2
liver cancers, as well as, metastatic

melanoma

Single-agent trials for breast, non-small Phase 2

cell lung and other cancers

Combination trials with standard
chemotherapies for melanoma, colorectal,
non-small cell lung, ovarian and other

Phase 2 and 1b Extension

cancers
Additiona! combination trials with other Phase 1b
anticancer agents

PD 332991 Multiple cancer types Phase 1

(licensed to Pfizer)

Commercialization Status

With our collaborator, Bayer, we are commercializing Nexavar ® (sorafenib) Tablets, for the treatment of patients
with advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer. Nexavar has been approved and is marketed for these indications in
the United States and in the European Union, as well as other territories worldwide. We and Bayer announced that
Nexavar was approved for the treatment of patients with advanced kidney cancer by the FDA in December 2005 and
by authorities in Japan in January 2008. It was also approved by the European Union in July 2006 for the treatment
of patients with advanced kidney cancer who have failed prior therapy or are considered unsuitable for other
therapies. Nexavar has been approved in more than 60 territories worldwide for advanced kidney cancer. In the
fourth quarter of 2007, Nexavar was approved for the treatment of patients with liver cancer in the European Union
and the United States. Nexavar is now approved in more than 30 countries for this indication. In the United States,
Bayer and Onyx co-promote Nexavar. Outside of the United States, Bayer manages all commercialization activitics,
In 2007, worldwide sales of Nexavar, as recorded by Bayer, totaled $371.7 million.

Development Strategy

In collaboration with Bayer, we have a two-part development strategy for Nexavar. As the first part of this strategy,
we focused on demonstrating Nexavar's ability to benefit patients suffering from a cancer for which there were no or
few established therapies. With the approval of Nexavar for the treatment of advanced kidney cancer and liver
cancer, the two companies have established the Nexavar brand and have created a global commercial oncology
presence. The next phase of our strategy is to establish Nexavar's efficacy in more prevalent tumor types, such as
lung cancer and breast cancer, in combination with already approved anti-cancer therapies. Although one of our
Phase 3 trials for non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) was stopped because an independent Data Monitoring
Committee, or DMC, analysis concluded that it did not meet its primary endpoint of improved overall survival, we
continue to have other trials in lung cancer. We believe Nexavar’s unique features, including its oral availability and
combinability profile, may be important attributes that could differentiate it from other anti-cancer agents and
enable it to be used broadly in the treatment of cancer. In addition to conducting company-sponsored clinical trials,
we plan to expand our collaborations with government agencies, cooperative groups, and individuval investigators.
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OQur goal is to maximize Nexavar’s commercial and clinical potential by simultaneously running multiple studies to
produce the clinical evidence necessary to demonstrate Nexavar can benefit patients with many different types of
cancers. Additionally, because it is difficult to predict the success of clinical trials, running multiple trials may
mitigate the risk of failure of any single clinical trial,

Clinical Trials

Under our collaboration agreement, we and Bayer are jointly developing Nexavar internationally, with the
exception of Japan. In Japan, Bayer is responsible for funding and conducting all product development activities
and will pay us a royalty on any sales. Following is a summary of our significant clinical trials.

Kidney Cancer Program

Phase 3 Trial. In October 2003, we and Bayer announced the initiation of an international, placebo-
controlled, multicenter Phase 3 clinical trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of Nexavar in the treatment of
advanced renal cell carcinoma, or kidney cancer. More than 900 patients participated in the Phase 3 study at
sites worldwide. Enrollment was completed in March 2005, In the first quarter of 2005, we and Bayer
announced that an independent DMC had reviewed the safety and efficacy data from the trial. The DMC
concluded that Nexavar significantly prolonged progression-free survival, or PFS. This result was discussed
with medical experts, patient advocacy groups and health authorities. Subsequently, we and Bayer allowed all
patients in the Phase 3 kidney cancer trial to be offered access to Nexavar, enabling them to “crossover” to
Nexavar treatment.

The final analysis showed a trend towards improved overall survival despite the fact that 48% of placebo
patients crossed over to treatment with Nexavar. An additional analysis that omitted patients who crossed over
to Nexavar demonstrated a significant overall survival benefit. These data, while not reaching the pre-specified
endpoint, suggest a favorable survival trend for patients who received Nexavar.

Phase 2 Trial. In June 2007, results of a Phase 2 clinical trial comparing Nexavar to Interferon (IFN) in
patients who had no prior systemic therapy were presented. The 189 patient study indicated PFS was
comparable for patients who received either Nexavar or IFN. Median PFS was 5.6 months and 5.7 months,
respectively, for IFN- and Nexavar-treated patients, Products that have shown efficacy as compared to IFN or
interleukin-2, or IL-2, or in patients who have not had prior systemic therapy may be preferred by the medical
community.

Liver Cancer Program

Phase 3 Trial.  In March 2005, we and Bayer initiated an international randomized, double-blind, placebo-
controlled Phase 3 clinical trial of Nexavar administered as a single agent in patients with advanced
hepatocellular carcinoma, or HCC, also known as liver cancer. The Phase 3 study was designed to measure
differences in overall survival, time to symptom progression and time to tumor progression of Nexavar versus
placebo in patients with advanced liver cancer. Patients with advanced liver cancer, who had not received
previous systemic treatment for their disease, were randomized to receive Nexavar or placebo.

In February 2007, we and Bayer announced that an independent DMC had reviewed the safety and efficacy
data from the trial at a planned interim analysis and concluded that the trial met its primary endpoint resulting
in superior overall survival in those patients receiving Nexavar. The DMC also noted no demonstrated
difference in the serious adverse event rates between Nexavar and placebo, Subsequently, we and Bayer made
the decision Lo stop the trial early and allowed all patients in the Phase 3 liver cancer trial to be offered access to
Nexavar, enabling them to “crossover” to Nexavar treatment,

Results from the stody showed that Nexavar significantly extended median overall survival in patients with
liver cancer versus those taking placebo by 44%. There were no significant differences in serious adverse event
rates between the Nexavar- and placebo-treated groups.

Phase 3 Trial.  We and Bayer conducted a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled Phase 3 trial in the
Asia Pacific region designed to evaluate Nexavar in patients with liver cancer who had no prier systemic
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therapy. The primary objectives of the study were to compare overall survival, time to progression and PFS in
patients administered Nexavar versus patients administered placebo. In August 2007, Onyx and Bayer
announced that a planned review by a DMC found that Nexavar significantly improved overall survival,
PFS and time to progression. Based on the DMC’s recommendation, the trial was stopped early to allow all
patients to receive treatment with Nexavar,

Phase 2 Trials. The decision to begin the Phase 3 liver cancer trial was based upon data from a Phase 2
clinical trial. The data showed that of 137 patients enrolled in the trial, investigators reported median overall
survival for all patients was 9.2 months and median time-to-tumor progression was 4.2 months (or 5.7 months
in patients with good hepatic function}. In the trial, safety data generated showed that Nexavar’s side effect
profile was generally well tolerated and predictable.

In 2005, we and Bayer initiated a 100-patient randomized Phase 2 study comparing Nexavar plus doxorubicin
to doxorubicin alone for the treatment of patients with advanced liver cancer. In February 2007, we and Bayer
accepted the recommendation of an independent DMC to stop this study early because patients receiving
chemotherapy alone were thought to be at a considerable disadvantage. In September 2007, data from this
study was presented. The data showed that Nexavar plus doxorubicin doubled overall survival to 14 months as
compared to 7 months for those patients taking doxorubicin alone. There were no major differences in the rate
of serious adverse events between the two arms.

Lung Cancer Program

Phase 3 Trial. In February 2006, we and Bayer initiated a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled
pivotal clinical trial, called Evaluation of Sorafenib, Carboplatin And Paclitaxel Efficacy (ESCAPE), studying
Nexavar administered in combination with the chemotherapeutic agents carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients
with non-small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC. This multicenter study of approximately 900 patients compared
Nexavar when administered in combination with these two agents versus each of the agents alone. Overall
survival was the primary endpoint of the study. Secondary endpoints included PFS, tumor response and safety.
In February 2008, this clinical trial was stopped early following a planned interim anaiysis when an
independent DMC concluded that the study would not meet its primary endpoint of improved overall survival.
Safety events were generally consistent with those previously reported. However, higher mortality was
observed in the subset of patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the lung treated with sorafenib and
carboplatin and paclitaxel versus those treated with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone. Information regarding
this DMC’s recommendation is being provided to health authorities and those clinical investigators involved in
studies of Nexavar. In addition, the companies will further review the findings of this analysis and DMC
recommendation to determine what, if any, impact they have on other ongoing Nexavar lung cancer trials. Data
from this study will be presented at an upcoming scientific meeting.

Phase 3 Trial. A second pivotal NSCLC trial of approximately 900 patients is ongoing primarily in Europe
using a chemotherapy doublet that is more commonly used in Europe than the United States. In this trial,
patients are receiving gemcitabine and cisplatin plus Nexavar or gemcitabine and cisplatin plus placebo. The
study has co-primary endpoints of overall survival and PFS. In February 2008, Bayer and Onyx temporarily
interrupted treatment and enrollment of patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the lung pending a meeting
of the independent DMC to evaluate interim data from this trial as well as data from the ESCAPE trial. Bayer
and Onyx, themselves, or the DMC may, at any time decide to terminate the study or make changes to the study
protocol, including, but not limited to, reducing the size of the study, excluding patients with squamous cell
carcinoma of the lung, or changing the study endpoints,

Phase 1/Phase 2 Trials. 'We and Bayer conducted a 54-patient, single-agent Nexavar trial in second- or third-
line NSCLC patients. The median PFS in this refractory population was approximately three months. We and
Bayer also obtained additional data from a subset of 14 evaluable NSCLC first-line patients enrolled in a
single-arm Phase | study administering the combination of carboplatin, paclitaxel and Nexavar. For the lung
cancer patients on the combination therapy, the investigator reported an overall median PFS of approximaitely
eight months, As this investigator-initiated analysis was not reviewed by the sponsors, the results are subject to
change until the database is finalized.



Metastatic Melanoma Program

Phase 3 Trial. In May 2005, we and Bayer commenced a randomized, double-blind Phase 3 trial admin-
istering Nexavar in combination with the chemotherapeutic agents carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with
advanced metastatic melanoma who had failed one prior treatment. The 270 patient trial had PFS as its primary
endpoint. Participating patients failed one previous systemic chemotherapeutic treatment with either dacar-
bazine, also known as DTIC, or temozolomide. Patients were randomized to receive Nexavar or matching
placebo, in addition to a standard dosing schedule of carboplatin and paclitaxel. In December 2006, Bayer and
Onyx announced that this study did not meet its primary endpoint of improving PFS, noting that the treatment
effect was comparable in each arm.

Phase 3 Trial.  Also, in 2005, a second Phase 3 study administering Nexavar in combination with carboplatin
and paclitaxel was initiated under the sponsorship of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group, or ECOG.
Patients who had not received prior chemotherapy, are being randomized to receive Nexavar plus the
chemotherapeutic agenis paclitaxel and carboplatin or placebo plus paclitaxel and carboplatin. This trial
has overall survival as its primary endpoint. Participants in this study may not have had prior systemic
chemotherapy. This study is continuing to enroll patients; it is expected that enrollment will be completed in
the middle of 2008,

Phase 2 Trial. In addition, we conducted a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter, Phase
2 study administering Nexavar in combination with DTIC that had PFS as its primary endpoint. Approximately
100 patients with advanced melanoma, who had not received prior chemotherapy, were randomized to receive
Nexavar in combination with DTIC or placebo in combination with DTIC. In June 2007, we reported that there
was a trend toward improved PFS in patients in the Nexavar arm versus patients in the placebo arm. However,
overall survival was not improved in this study. At this time we are not planning further studies administering
Nexavar and DTIC in melanoma patients, pending the outcome of the ongoing Phase 3 study sponsored by
ECOG. : :

Breast Cancer Program

In 2007, Onyx and Bayer launched a broad, multinational Phase 2 program in advanced breast cancer. The
program was designed and is being led by an international group of experts in the field of breast cancer and
includes multiple randomized Phase 2 trials. These Phase 2 trials are screening studies intended to provide
information that will be used to design a Phase 3 program. The current program involves a number of different
drug combinations with Nexavar and encompasses various treatment settings. The advisors are particularly
interested in studying Nexavar in breast cancer where the product’s features, such as its oral administration and
favorable hematologic toxicity profile, may translate into benefits for patients over other existing and
experimental treatments.

Phase 2 Studies. Five Phase 2 studies have been started. All of the studies are randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlted trials that are designed to assess PFS as the primary endpoint. They will compare Nexavar
in combination with other agents to the other agents and placebo. The specific trials are:

+ Paclitaxel with Nexavar or placebo. This study is being conducted with patients who have not
received prior systemic therapy, also known as first-line patients, that are HER2 negative and have locally
recurrent or metastatic breast cancer. HER2 is a specialized protein receptor on the surface of breast cells
and breast cancer cells that controls cancer cell growth, invasion, and spread of the cancer to other parts of
the body.

« Gemcitabine with Nexavar or placebo. This study is being conducted with patients who have
experienced disease progression during or after treatment with an Avastin-containing regimen in the
adjuvant (post-surgery) or first-line metastatic setting, Patients enrolling in this trial-are also HER2
negative with tocally advanced or metastatic disease.

7




eSS

* Capecitabine with Nexavar or placebo. Patients in this study are HER2 negative with locally
advanced or metastatic breast cancer and have received no more than one prior chemotherapy.

» Docetaxel and/or Letrozole with Nexavar or placebo. Patients in this study have locally recurrent
or metastatic HER2 negative breast cancer and have not received prior systemic therapy.

» Aromatase Inhibitors of choice with Nexavar or placebo. Patients in this study are postmeno-
pausal women with locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer and have not received prior systemic
therapy.

Early Stage Clinical Development

With Bayer, we have multiple ongoing and planned Phase 1b and Phase 2 studies evaluating Nexavar as a
single agent and in combination with other anti-cancer agents in tumors such as prostate, colorectal, ovarian
and other cancers. As these studies are completed, we intend to present data at scientific meetings. In addition,
based on the results of these ongoing trials, we plan to identify additional potential registration paths for
Nexavar. To date, results have been reported from more than ten of these trials, specifically for the use of
Nexavar in combination with paclitaxel/carboplatin, gemcitabine, oxaliplatin, doxorubicin, irinotecan, 5-
fluorouvacol/leucovorin, capecitabine, DTIC, taxotere, Iressa, interferon and Avastin.

Licensed Product Candidates
Cell Cycle Program

In May 1995, we entered into a research and development collaboration agreement with Warner-Lambert, now a
subsidiary of Pfizer, to discover and commercialize small molecule drugs that restore control of, or otherwise
intervene in, the misregulated cell cycle in tumor cells. Under this agreement, we developed screening tests, or
assays, for jointly selected targets, and transferred these assays to Warner-Lambert for screening of their compound
library to identify active compounds. The discovery research term under the agreement ended in August 2001.
Warner-Lambert is responsible for subsequent medicinal chemistry and preclinical investigations on the active
compounds. In addition, Warner-Lambert is obligated to conduct and fund all clinical development, make
regulatory filings and manufacture for sale any approved collaboration compounds. We will receive milestone
payments on clinical development and registration of any resulting products and are entitled to receive royalties on
all worldwide sales of the products. Warner-Lambert has identified a small molecule lead compound, PD 332991,
an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase 4, and began clinical testing with this drug candidate in 2004. As a result of
this, to date we received a $500,000 milestone payment from Warner-Lambert,

Virus Platform

Prior to June 2003, in addition to our small molecule program, we were developing therapeutic viruses that
selectively replicate in cells with cancer-causing genetic mutations. In June 2003, we announced that we were
discontinuing this program as part of a business realignment that placed an increased priority on the development of
Nexavar. Effective January 2005, Onyx licensed exclusive rights to our p53-selective virus, ONYX-0i5, to
Shanghai Sunway Biotech Co. Ltd. headquartered in Shanghai, People’s Republic of China, Under this agreement,
Shanghai Sunway is responsible for the research, development, manufacture and commercialization of ONYX-015
worldwide. Onyx received a payment of $1.0 million in 2005 and may receive additional milestone payments upon
the achievement of clinical, regulatory and commercial events. We are entitled to receive royalties on any net sales
of ONYX-015 in the United States, Europe and certain other foreign countries, excluding China.

Collaboration with Bayer

Effective February 1994, we established a collaboration agreement with Bayer to discover, develop and market
compounds that inhibit the function, or modulate the activity, of the RAS signaling pathway to treat cancer and other
diseases. Together with Bayer, we concluded collaborative research under this agreement in 1999, and based on this
research, a product development candidate, Nexavar, was identified. Bayer paid all the costs of research and
preclinical development of Nexavar until the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, was filed in May 2000.
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Under our agreement with Bayer, we are currently funding 50% of mutually agreed development costs worldwide,
excluding Japan. Bayer is funding 100% of development costs in Japan and will pay us a royalty on any sales in
Japan. At any time during product development, either company may terminate its participation in development
costs, in which case the terminating party would retain rights to the product on a royalty-bearing basis. If we do not
continue to bear 50% of product development costs, Bayer would retain exclusive, worldwide rights to this product
candidate and would pay royalties to us based on net sales.

In March 2006, we and Bayer entered into a Co-Promotion Agreement to co-promote Nexavar in the United States.
This agreement generally supersedes those provisions of the original 1994 Collaboration Agreement that relate to
the co-promotion of Nexavar in the United States between Bayer and us. Outside of the United States, the terms of
the Collaboration Agreement continue to govern. Under the terms of the Co-Promotion Agreement and consistent
with the Collaboration Agreement, we will share equally in the profits or losses of Nexavar, if any, in the United
States. If for any reason we do not continue to co-promaote in the United States, but continue to co-fund development
worldwide {excluding Japan), Bayer would first receive a portion of the product revenues to repay Bayer for its
commercialization infrastructure, before determining our share of profits and losses in the United States.

Our collaboration agreement with Bayer calls for creditable milestone-based payments. These amounts are interest-
free and will be repayable to Bayer from a portion of the collaboration and of cur future profits and royalties. As a
result of the development of Nexavar, including approval of Nexavar, we have received $40 million in creditable
milestone advance payments. These advances are repayable to Bayer from a portion of our share of any quarterly
collaboration profits and royalties after deducting certain contractually agreed upon expenditures. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2007, $39.2 million of the advance repayable to Bayer is outstanding.

Research and Development

A significant portion of our operating expenses relate to research and development. Since we discontinued our virus
program in 2003, our research and development expenses have been substantiaily for the development of Nexavar.
We do not have internal research capabilities and have only a limited development staff focused on the clinical
development of Nexavar. In 2007, a significant percentage of our operating expenses were related to research and
development and we anticipate that trend will continue, specifically for the clinical development of Nexavar as both
we and Bayer have agreed to continue substantial investment in this product.

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, cur research and development costs were $25.4 million,
$31.0 million, and $63.1 million, respectively. In 2006, we changed the presentation of our Statement of Operations
to reflect the Co-Promotion Agreement by including the “net expense due to {from) unconsolidated joint business”
line item. As a result of this change, our share of the Nexavar product development costs paid by Bayer are not
included in our research and development line item for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007. In years prior
to 2006, Bayer’s Nexavar product development expenses were included in our research and development expense
line item. Beginning in 2006, consistent with the terms of our collaboration agreement, our share of Bayer’s
Nexavar product development expenses are included in net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business.
Thus, the amounts above represent our direct research and development expenses. The total research and
development costs including our share of development expenses under our coliaboration with Bayer for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 are $83.3 million, $84.2 million, and $63.1 million, respectively.

Marketing and Sales

Since our first product, Nexavar, was approved by the FDA, and because we retained Unites States co-promotion
rights, in 2005 we added sales, marketing and medical affairs capabilities with particular expertise in commer-
cializing oncology products. Under the collaboration agreement, Bayer commercializes Nexavar outside of the
United States where it has been approved. We and Bayer each provide one-half of the field-based staffing in the
United States to satisfy commercial demand for this product and to provide medical affairs support for Nexavar.
Individuals hired into this organization have significant experience relevant to the field of pharmaceuticals in
general and to the specialty of oncology in particular. We and Bayer have also established comprehensive patient
support services to maximize access to Nexavar. This includes REACH, an acronym for Resources for Expert
Assistance and Care Hotline, which provides a single peint-of-contact for most patients. In addition, REACH helps
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link patients to specialty pharmacies for direct product distribution. Bayer currently has multiple specialty
pharmacies under contract that are shipping drug directly to patients’ homes.

Manufacturing

Under our collaboration agreement with Bayer, Bayer has the manufacturing responsibility to supply Nexavar for
commercial requirements and to support any clinical trials. To date, Bayer has manufactured sufficient drug supply
to support the current needs of commercial activity and clinical trials in progress. We believe that Bayer has the
capability to meet all future drug supply needs and meet the FDA and other regulatory agency requirements.

At this time, we do not have any internal manufacturing capability. To manufacture our product candidates for
cliriical trials or on a commercial scale, if we are required or choose to do so, we would have to build or gain access
to a manufacturing facility, which would require significant funds.

For risks associated with manufacturing, refer to “We do not have manufacturing expertise or capabilities and are
dependent on Bayer to fulfill our manufacturing needs, which could result in lost sales and the delay of clinical trials
or regulatory approval” under “Risk Factors” below in Part [, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We believe that patent and trade secret protection is crucial to our business and that our future will depend in part on
our ability to obtain patents, maintain trade secret protection and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights
of others, both in the United States and other countries. The patents and patent applications covering Nexavar are
owned by Bayer, but licensed to us in conjunction with our collaboration agreement with Bayer. Bayer has a United
States Patent that covers pharmaceutical compositions of Nexavar which will expire in 2022. Bayer also has a
European Patent that covers Nexavar, which will expire in 2020. Bayer has other patent applications that are
pending worldwide that cover Nexavar alone or in combination with other drugs for treating cancer. Certain of these
patents may be subject to possible patent-term extension, the entitlement to and the term of which cannot presently
be calculated. As of December 30, 2007, we owned or had licensed rights to 58 United States patents and 32 United
States patent applications and, generally, the foreign counterparts of these filings. Most of these patents or patent
applications cover protein targets used to identify product candidates during the research phase of our collaborative
agreements with Warner-Lambert or Bayer, or aspects of our now discontinued therapeutic virus program.

Generally, patent applications in the United States are maintained in secrecy for a period of 18 months or more.
Since publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature often lag behind actual discoveries, we are not
certain that we were the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications or that we
were the first to file those patent applications. The patent positions of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies
are highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. Therefore, we cannot predict the breadth of
claims allowed in biotechnology and pharmaceutical patents, or their enforceability. To date, there has been no
consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patents. Third parties or competitors
may challenge or circumvent our patents or patent applications, if issued. Because of the extensive time required for
development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that before we commercialize any of
our products, any related patent may expire, or remain in existence for only a short period following commer-
cialization, thus reducing any advantage of the patent.

If patents are issued to others containing preclusive or conflicting claims and these claims are ultimately determined
to be valid, we may be required to obtain licenses to these patents or to develop or obtain alternative technology. Our
breach of an existing license or failure to obtain a license to technology required to commercialize our products may
seriously harm our business. We also may need to commence litigation to enforce any patents issued to us or to
determine the scope and validity of third-party proprietary rights. Litigation would create substantial costs. If our
competitors prepare and file patent applications in the United States that claim technology also claimed by us, we
may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the United States Patent and Trademark Office to
determine priority of invention, which could result in substantial cost, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to
us. An adverse outcome in litigation could subject us to significant liabilities to third parties and require us to seek
licenses of the disputed rights from third parties or to cease using the technology if such licenses are unavailable.
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Together with our licensors, we also rely on trade secrets to protect our combined technology especially where we
do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We
protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees,
consultants and collaborators, These parties may breach these agreements, and we may not have adequate remedies
for any breach. Our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors. To
the extent that we or our consultants or collaborators use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us,
we may have disputes with them or other third parties as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and
inventions.

Government Regulation

Regulation by government authorities in the United States and other countries will be a significant factor in the
manufacturing and marketing of any products that may be developed by us. We must obtain the requisite regulatory
approvals by government agencies prior to commercialization of any product. This is tree internationally and for
any additional indications, if any. We anticipate that any product candidate will be subject to rigorous preclinical
and clinical testing and premarket approval procedures by the FDA and similar health authorities in foreign
countries. Various federal statutes and regulations also govern or influence the manufacturing, testing, labeling,
storage, record-keeping, marketing and prometion of products and product candidates.

The steps ordinarily required before a drug or biological product may be marketed in the United States include:
» preclinical studies;

» the submission to the FDA of an IND that must become effective before human clinical trials may
commence;

* adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product
candidate;

» the submission of an NDA to the FDA; and
» FDA approval of the NDA, including inspection and approval of the product manufacturing facility.

Preclinical trials involve laboratory evaluation of product candidate chemistry, formulation and stability, as well as
animal studies to assess the potential safety and efficacy of each product candidate. Next, the results of the
preclinical trials are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND and are reviewed by the FDA before the
commencement of clinical trials. Unless the FDA objects to an IND, the IND will become effective 30 days
following its receipt by the FDA. Submission of an IND may not result in FDA clearance to commence clinical
trials, and the FDA’s failure to object to an IND does not guarantee FDA approval of a marketing application.

Clinical trials involve the administration of the product candidate to humans under the supervision of a qualified
principal investigator. In the United States, clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with Good Clinical
Practices under protocols submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. In addition, each clinical trial must be approved
and conducted under the auspices of an Institutional Review Board, or IRB, and with the patient’s informed consent.
The United Kingdom and many other European and Asian countries have similar regulations.

The goal of Phase 1 clinical trials is to establish initial data about safety and tolerability of the product candidate in
humans. The goal of Phase 2 clinical trials is to provide evidence about the desired therapeutic efficacy of the
product candidate in limited studies with small numbers of carefully selected subjects. The investigators seek to
evaluate the effects of various dosages and to establish an optimal dosage level and dosage schedule. Investigators
also gather additional safety data from these studies. Phase 3 clinical trials consist of expanded, large-scale, multi-
center studies in the target patient population. This phase further tests the product’s effectiveness, monitors side
effects, and, in some cases, compares the product’s effects to a standard treatment, if one is already available.

Submission of all data obtained from this comprehensive development program as an NDA to the FDA, and to the
corresponding agencies in other countries for review and approval, is needed before marketing product candidates.
These regulations define not only the form and content of the development of safety and efficacy data regarding the
proposed product, but also impose certain specific requirements.
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The process of obtaining FDA approval can be costly, time consuming and subject to unanticipated delays. The
FDA may refuse to approve an application if it believes that applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied. The FDA
may also require additional testing for safety and efficacy of the product candidate. In some instances, regulatory
approval may be granted with the condition that confirmatory Phase 4 clinical trials are carried out. If these Phase 4
clinical trials do not confirm the results of previous studies, regulatory approval for marketing may be withdrawn.
Moreover, if regulatory approval of a product is granted, the approval will be limited to specific indications.

Companies, including Onyzx, are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to healthcare “fraud and abuse,”
including anti-kickback and false claims laws. The federal Anti-Kickback Law makes it illegal for any person,
including a prescription drug manufacturer, or a party acting on its behalf, to knowingly and willfully solicit, offer,
receive or pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange for, or to induce, the referral of business,
including the purchase, order or prescription of a particular drug, for which payment may be made under federal
healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Some of the state prohibitions apply to referral of patients for
healthcare services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

In the course of practicing medicine, physicians may legally prescribe FDA approved drugs for an indication that
has not been approved by the FDA and which, therefore, is not described in the product’s approved labeling —~ so-
called “off-label use.” The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments. The FDA
and other governmental agencies do, however, restrict communications on the subject of off-label use by a
manufacturer or those acting on behalf of a manufacturer. Companies may not promote FDA-approved drugs for
off-label uses. The FDA has not approved the use of Nexavar for the treatment of any diseases other than advanced
kidney cancer and liver cancer and neither we nor Bayer market Nexavar for the treatment of any diseases other than
advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer. The FDA and other governmental agencies do permit a manufacturer (and
those acting on its behalf) to enagage in some limited, non-misleading, non-promotional exchanges of scientific
information regarding unapproved indications.

For risks associated with government regulation, refer to “We are subject to extensive government regulation, which
can be costly, time consuming and subject us to unanticipated delays’ and “We may incur significant liability if it is
determined that we are promoting the “off-label” use of drugs or are otherwise found in violation of federal and state
regulations in the United States or elsewhere” under *“Risk Factors™ below in Part I, Item LA of this Form 10-K.

Competition

We are engaged in a rapidly changing and highly competitive field. We are seeking to develop and market product
candidates that will compete with other products and therapies that currently exist or are being developed. Many
other companies are actively seeking to develop products that have disease targets similar to those we are pursuing.
Some of these competitive product candidates are in clinical trials and others are approved. Currently, two other
novel agents besides Nexavar have been approved for the treatment of advanced kidney cancer — Sutent and
Torisel. Sutent, a multi-kinase inhibitor, was approved by the FDA in January 2006 to treat advanced kidney cancer
patients. Subsequently, in July 2006, Sutent was approved by European regulators to treat advanced kidney cancer
patients who had failed a cytokine-based regimen. In January 2007, European regulators approved Sutent as a first-
line treatment for advanced kidney cancer patients based on the results of a randomized Phase 3 trial comparing
Sutent to IFN in treatment-naive patients. Wyeth’s Torisel, an mTOR inhibitor, was approved by the FDA in May
2007, to treat advanced kidney cancer patients, based on the results of a randomized Phase 3 study comparing
Torisel to IFN in treatment-naive, poor-risk advanced kidney cancer patients. The primary endpoint of the study was
overall survival. European regulators approved Torisel in November 2007 for poor-risk advanced kidney cancer
patients.

In November 2007, Genentech’s Avastin received a positive opinion from the European Committee for Medicinal
Products for Human Use, or CHMP, for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced kidney cancer.
Subsequently, in December 2007 Avastin was approved by the European Commission for the first-line treatment
of patients with advanced kidney cancer in combination with interferon.

GlaxoSmithKline and Novartis also have agents in randomized Phase 3 clinical trials for second-line advanced
kidney cancer. Pazopanib, a multi-kinase inhibitor, and RAD-001, an mTOR inhibitor, are both expected to have
results from these Phase3 trials in 2008, In February 2008, Novartis announced that an independent review
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committee had stopped a late-stage trial of its experimental kidney cancer drug everolimus, previously known as
RADOQOI, because the study had met its goal of progression-free survival in advanced kidney cancer patients.

Currently, there are no targeted agent competitors in Phase 3 trials for liver cancer. The most advanced targeted agents are
in Phase 2 trials and include small molecule drugs such as Progen’s PI-88, OSI Pharmaceuticals / Genentech’s Tarceva,
Pfizer's Sutent, and Bristol Myers Squibb’s Brivanib and also antibodies such as Genentech’s Avastin, Bristol Myers
Squibb’s Erbitux and Imclone’s IMC-1121B. PI-88, believed to be the most advanced targeted agent, is expected to enter
Phase 3 clinical trials in the adjuvant setting in 2008. These drugs, among others, are being evaluated in many different
trials as monotherapy and in combination with chemotherapy and/or targeted agents. If successful, they would provide
competition for Nexavar in the treatment of liver cancer.

For risks associated with competition, refer to “There are competing therapies approved and in development for the
treatment of advanced kidney cancer. We expect the number of approved therapies to increase, which could harm
the prospects for Nexavar in advanced kidney cancer” under “Risk Factors” below in Part [, Item LA of this
Form 10-K.

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 133 full-time employees of whom 26 hold Ph.D., M.D. or Pharm.D. degrees. Of
our employees, 32 are in resecarch and development, 82 are in sales and marketing and 39 are in corporate
development, finance and administration. No employee is represented by a labor union.

Company Infoermation

We were incorporated in California in February 1992 and reincorporated in Delaware in May 1996. Our principal
office is located at 2100 Powell Street, Emeryville, California 94608 and our telephone number is (510) 597-6500.
Our website is located at http:/www.onyx-pharm.com. However, information found on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this report.

Available Information

We make our SEC filings available free of charge on or through our website, including our annual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly interim reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or fumnish it to, the SEC. Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the Securities
and Exchange Commission’s Public Reference Rooms at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D. C. 20549. Information on
the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by calling the Securities and Exchange Commission at
1-800-SEC-0330. The Securities and Exchange Commission maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding our filings at http://www.sec.gov.

Code of Ethics

In 2003, we adopted a code of ethics that applies to our principal officers, directors and employees. We have posted
the text of our code of ethics on our website at http://www.onyx-pharm.com in connection with “Investors”
materials. However, information found on our website is not incorporated by reference into this report. In addition,
we intend to promptly disclose (1) the nature of any amendment to our code of ethics that applies to our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or persons performing similar functions
and (2) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of our code of ethics that is granted
to one of these specified officers, the name of such person who is granted the waiver and the date of the waiver on
our website in the future.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information included in this
report, in considering our business and prospects. The risks and uncertainties described below contain forward-
looking statements, and our actual results may differ materially from those discussed here. Additional risks and
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uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business
operations. Each of these risk factors could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition,
as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our common stock.

Nexavar® (sorafenib) tablets is our only product, and we do not have any other product candidates in Phase 2 or
Phase 3 clinical development. If Nexavar is not commercially successful, we may be unable to develop and
commercialize alternative product candidates and our business would fail.

Nexavar is our only product. We do not have internal research or preclinical development capabilities. Our scientific
and administrative employees are primarity dedicated to the development and commercialization of Nexavar and
managing our relationship with Bayer rather than discovering or developing new product candidates. Thus, we do
not have a clinical development pipeline beyond Nexavar. If Nexavar is not commercially successful, we may be
unable to develop and commercialize alternative product candidates to later stage clinical development and
commercialization, which would cause our business to fail.

There are competing therapies approved and in development for the treatment of advanced kidney cancer. We
expect the number of approved therapies to increase, which could harm the prospects for Nexavar in advanced
kidney cancer.

There are several competing therapies approved for the treatment of kidney cancer and, in addition, several
companies are developing novel multi-kinase inhibitors, antiangiogenic agents and other targeted therapies for the
treatment of kidney cancer. The market is highly competitive, and we expect the competition to increase as
additional products are approved to treat these types of cancer, which could lead to an erosion of our current market
share,

For example, Sutent, @ multi-kinase inhibitor marketed by Pfizer, was approved in 2006 in the United States, the
European Union and other countries for treating patients with advanced kidney cancer and Gleevec-resistant
gastrointestinal stromal tumors, or GIST. Results of a randomized Phase 3 trial comparing Sutent to interferon, or
IFN, in treatment-naive patients with advanced kidney cancer showed a median, progression free survival, or PFS,
of 11 months for patients receiving Sutent compared to 5 months for patients receiving IFN, Pfizer also has an
earlier stage compound, AG-013736, a multi-kinase inhibitor, which is in clinical development and is being
evaluated in kidney cancer patients.

Wyeth received an approval in May 2007 to market Torisel, an mTOR, inhibitor, for the treatment of patients with
advanced kidney cancer. In June 2006, results of a randomized Phase 3 trial comparing Torisel to IFN to both agents
combined in treatment-naive, pocr-prognosis advanced kidney cancer patients were reported. The primary endpoint
of the study was overall survival. The reported median overall survival was 10.9 months for Torisel alone as
compared to 7.3 months for interferon. Wyeth has also initiated a Phase 2/3 trial in second line RCC, which
compares Torisel to Nexavar, The results of this trial could impact our competitiveness in RCC.

Genentech’s Avastin was approved by the European Union for the treatment of patients with advanced kidney
cancer in combination with IFN. The approval was based on results reported from a Phase 3 randomized trial in
treatment-naive advanced kidney cancer patients comparing treatment with Avastin and IFN to treatment with [FN
alone. The reported PFS for patients who received the combination was 10 months as compared to 5 months for
those patients receiving IFN alone. GlaxoSmithKline and Novartis also have agents in randomized Phase 3 clinical
trials for second-line advanced kidney cancer. Pazopanib, a multi-kinase inhibitor, and RAD-001, an mTOR
inhibitor, are both expected to have results from these Phase3 trials in 2008. In February 2008, Novartis announced
that an independent review committee had stopped a late-stage trial of its experimental kidney cancer drug
everolimus, previously known as RADOO1, because the study had met its goal of progression-free survival in
advanced kidney cancer patients.

In December 2006, we announced the results of the Phase 2 clinical trial comparing Nexavar to IFN, which did not
demonstrate PFS was favorable for patients who received Nexavar. Products that have shown efficacy as compared
to [FN or interleukin-2, or IL-2, or in treatment naive-patients may be preferred by the medical community.

Further, survival may become the most important element in determining standard of care. While we did not
demonstrate a statistically significant overall survival benefit for patients treated with Nexavar in our Phase 3
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kidney cancer trial, we believe the outcome was impacted by the cross over of patients from placebo to Nexavar
beginning in April 20035. Competitors with statistically significant overall survival data could be preferred in the
marketplace, which could impair our ability to successfully market Nexavar.

The use of any particular therapy may limit the use of a competing therapy with a similar mechanism of action. The
FDA approval of Nexavar permits Nexavar to be used as an initial, or first-line, therapy for the treatment of
advanced kidney cancer, but some other approvals do not. For example, the European Union approval indicates
Nexavar only for advanced kidney cancer patients that have failed prior therapy or whose physicians deem alternate
therapies inappropriate. The successful introduction of other new therapies could significantly reduce the potential
market for Nexavar in this indication. Decreased demand for Nexavar would harm our ability to realize revenue and
profits from Nexavar, which could cause our stock price to fall.

Although Nexavar has been approved in the United States, European Union and other territories for the
treatment of patients with liver cancer, adoption may be slow or limited for a variety of reasons including the
geographic distribution of the patient population, the current treatment paradigm for liver cancer patients and
the underlying liver disease present in most liver cancer patients. If Nexavar is not broadly adopted for the
treatment of liver cancer, our business would be harmed.

Nexavar has been approved in the United States, the European Union and many other countries as the first systemic
treatment for liver cancer. The rate of adoption and the ultimate market size will be dependent on several factors
including educating treating physicians on the appropriate use of Nexavar and the management of patients who are
receiving Nexavar. This may be difticult due to patients typically having underlying liver disease and comorbidities
in addition to their liver cancer and often being treated by a variety of medical specialists. In addition, screening,
diagnostic and treatment practices can vary significantly by region. Further, liver cancer is common in many regions
in the developing world where the healthcare systems are limited and reimbursement for Nexavar is not available,
which will likely limit or slow adoption. If we are unable to change the treatment paradigms for this disease, we may
be unable to successfully commercialize Nexavar for this indication, which could harm our business,

If our ongoing and planned clinical trials fail to demonstrate that Nexavar is safe and effective or we are unable
to obtain necessary regulatory approvals, we will be unable to expand the commercial market for Nexavar and
our business may fail.

In collaboration with Bayer, we are conducting multiple clinical trials of Nexavar. We are currently conducting a
number of clinical trials of Nexavar alone or in combination with other anticancer agents in kidney, liver, non-small
cell lung, breast, melanoma, and other cancers including a number of Phase 3 clinical trials.

Phase 3 trials are designed to more rigorously test the efficacy of a product candidate and are normally randomized
and double-blinded. Phase 3 trials are typically monitored by independent data moniroring committees, or DMC,
which periodically review data as a trial progresses. A DMC may recommend that a trial be stopped before
completion for a number of reasons including safety concerns, patient benefit or futility. Our clinical trials may fail
to demonstrate that Nexavar is safe and effective, and Nexavar may not gain additional regulatory approval, which
would limit the potential market for the product causing our business to fail.

While we and Bayer have received approval from the European Union and the FDA for the use of Nexavar to treat
liver cancer, other regulatory authorities have not completed their review of the submissions and any review may not
result in marketing approval by these other authorities in this indication. In addition, though Nexavar is approved for
the treatment of patients with liver cancer in the European Union, in certain countries pricing must be established
before reimbursement for this indication may be obtained.

Nexavar has not been approved in cancer types other than kidney and liver cancer. Success in one or even several
cancer types does not indicate that Nexavar would be approved or have successful clinical trials in other cancer
types. For example, in February 2006 we and Bayer initiated a Phase 3 clinical trial in combination with carboplatin
and paclitaxel in patients with non-small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC, and this trial failed to show Nexavar’s
efficacy in treating NSCLC. In February 2008, this clinical trial was stopped early following a planned interim
analysis when the independent DMC concluded that the study would not meet its primary endpoint of improved
overall survival. Although other NSCLC trials are ongoing, Nexavar may never be approved for this indication. In
addition, higher mortality was observed in the subset of patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the lung treated
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with Nexavar and carboplatin and paclitaxel versus those treated with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone. Other cancer
types with a histology similar to squamous cell carcinoma of the lung may yield a similar adverse treatment
outcome. If so, patients having this histology may be excluded from ongoing and future clinical trials, which would
reduce the number of patients that could potentially receive Nexavar.

Further, many companies have failed to demonstrate the effectiveness of pharmaceutical product candidates in
Phase 3 clinical trials notwithstanding favorable results in Phase | or Phase 2 clinical trials. In addition, if
previously unforeseen and unacceptable side effects are observed, we may not proceed with further clinical trials of
Nexavar. In our clinical trials, we may treat patients who have failed conventional treatments and who are in
advanced stages of cancer. During the course of treatment, these patients may die or suffer adverse medical effects
for reasons unrelated to Nexavar. These adverse effects may impact the interpretation of clinical trial results, which
could lead to an erroneous conclusion regarding the toxicity or efficacy of Nexavar.

We are dependent upon our collaborative relationship with Baver to manufacture and to further develop and
commercialize Nexavar. There may be circumstances that delay or prevent the development and commercialization of
Nexavar.

Our strategy for developing, manufacturing and commercializing Nexavar depends in large part upon our
relationship with Bayer. If we are unable to maintain our collaborative relationship with Bayer, we would need
to undertake development, manufacturing and marketing activities at our own expense. This would significantly
increase our capital and infrastructure requirements, may limit the indications we are able to pursue and could
prevent us from effectively developing and commercializing Nexavar.

We are subject to a number of risks associated with our dependence on our collaborative relationship with Bayer,
including:

+ adverse decisions by Bayer regarding the amount and timing of resource expenditures for the development
and commercialization of Nexavar;

« possible disagreements as to development plans, including clinical trials or regulatory approval strategy;

» the right of Bayer to terminate its collaberation agreement with us on limited notice and for reasons outside
our control;

* loss of significant rights if we fail to meet our obligations under the collaboration agreement;
» withdrawal of support by Bayer following the development or acquisition by it of competing products; and

« possible disagreements with Bayer regarding the collaboration agreement or ownership of proprietary
rights.

Due to these factors and other possible disagreements with Bayer, we may be delayed or prevented from further
developing or commercializing Nexavar, or we may become involved in litigation or arbitration, which would be
time consuming and expensive.

Our collaboration agreement with Bayer terminates when patents expire that were issued in connection with
product candidates discovered under that agreement, or upon the time when neither we nor Bayer are entitled to
profit sharing under that agreement, whichever is later. Bayer holds the global patent applications related to
Nexavar. The patents and patent applications covering Nexavar are owned by Bayer, but licensed to us through our
collaboration agreement with Bayer. Bayer has a United States patent that covers pharmaceutical compositions of
Nexavar, which will expire in 2022, Bayer also has a European patent that covers Nexavar, which will expire in
2020. Bayer has other patent applications that are pending worldwide that cover Nexavar alone or in combination
with other drugs for treating cancer.

We face intense competition and rapid technological change, and many of our competitors have substantially
greater resources than we have.

We are engaged in a rapidly changing and highly competitive field. We are seeking to develop and market Nexavar
to compete with other products and therapies that currently exist or are being developed. Many other companies are
actively seeking to develop products that have disease targets similar to those we are pursuing. Some of these
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competitive product candidates are in clinical trials and others are approved. Competitors that target the same tumor
types as our Nexavar program and that have commercial products or product candidates at various stages of clinical
development include Pfizer, Genentech, Inc., Wyeth, Novartis International AG, Amgen, AstraZeneca PLC, 0SI
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline, Imclone Systems and several others. A number of companies have agents
such as small molecules or antibodies targeting Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor, or VEGF; VEGF receptors;
Epidermal Growth Factor, or EGF; EGF receptors; and other enzymes. In addition, many other pharmaceutical
companies are developing novel cancer therapies that, if successful, would also provide competition for Nexavar.

Many of our competitors, either alone or together with collaborators, have substantially greater financial resources
and research and development staffs. In addition, many of these competitors, either alone or together with their
collaborators, have significantly greater experience than we do in:

* developing products;

« undertaking preclinical testing and human clinical trials;

+ obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products; and
« manufacturing and marketing products.

Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in obtaining patent protection, receiving FDA approval or commer-
cializing product candidates before we do. We will compete with companies with greater marketing and man-
ufacturing capabilities, areas in which we have limited or no experience.

We also face, and will continue to face, competition from academic institutions, government agencies and research
institutions. Further, we face numerous competitors working on product candidates to treat each of the diseases for
which we are seeking to develop therapeutic products. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may
compete with existing therapies that have long histories of safe and effective use. We may also face competition
from other drug development technologies and methods of preventing or reducing the incidence of disease and other
classes of therapeutic agents.

Developments by competitors may render our product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive. We face and will
continue to face intense competition from other companies for collaberations with pharmaceutical and biotech-
nology companies, for establishing relationships with academic and research institutions, and for licenses to
proprietary technology. These competitors, either alone or with collaborative parties, may succeed with technol-
ogies or products that are more effective than ours.

We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as new companies enter our markets and as
scientific developments surrounding other cancer therapies continue to accelerate. We have made significant
expenditures toward the development of Nexavar and the establishment of a commercialization infrastructure. If
Nexavar cannot compete effectively in the marketplace, we may be unable to realize sufficient revenue from
Nexavar to offset our expenditures toward its development and commercialization, and our business will suffer.

Our aperating results are unpredictable and may fluctuate. If our operating results are below the expectations of
securities analysts or investors, the trading price of our stock could decline.

Our operating results will likely fluctuate from fiscal quarter to fiscal quarter and from year to year, and are difficult
to predict. Since inception we have had a history of net operating losses, with the exception of the quarter ending
September 30, 2007, where we reported a net profit. There can be no assurance we will ever report another profitable
quarter. Due to a highly competitive environment with existing and emerging products in new markets, Nexavar
sales will be difficult to predict from period to period. Our operating expenses are largely independent of Nexavar
sales in any particular period. We believe that our quarterly and annual results of operations may be negatively
affected by a variety of factors. These factors inctude, but are not limited to, the level of patient demand for Nexavar,
the ability of Bayer’s distribution network to process and ship product on a timely basis, fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, investments in sales and marketing efforts to support the sales of Nexavar, Bayer and our
investments in the research and development of Nexavar and expenditures we may incur to acquire additional
products.
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In addition, as a result of our adoption of FAS 123(R), we must measure compensation cost for stock-based awards
made to employees at the grant date of the award, based on the fair value of the award, and recognize the cost as an
expense over the employee’s requisite service period. As the variables that we use as a basis for valuing these awards
change over time, the magnitude of the expense that we must recognize may vary significantly. Any such variance
from one period to the next could cause a significant fluctuation in our operating results.

It is, therefore, difficult for us to accurately forecast profits or losses. As a result, it is possible that in some quarters
our operating results could be below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, which could cause the
trading price of our common stock to decline, perhaps substantially.

The market may not accept our products and pharmaceutical pricing and reimbursement pressures may reduce
profitability.

Nexavar or any future product candidates that we may develop may not gain market acceptance among physicians,
patients, healthcare payors and/or the medical community or the market may not be as large as forecasted. One
factor that may affect market acceptance of Nexavar or any future products we may develop is the availability of
third-party reimbursement. Our commercial success may depend, it part, on the availability of adequate reim-
bursement for patients from third-party healthcare payors, such as government and private health insurers and
managed care organizations. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the pricing of medical products and
services, especially in global markets, and their reimbursement practices may affect the price levels for Nexavar. In
addition, the market for Nexavar may be limited by third-party payors who establish lists of approved products and
do not provide reimbursement for products not listed. If Nexavar is not on the approved lists, our sales may suffer.
Changes in government legislation or regulation such as the Medicare Act, including Medicare Part I, or changes in
private third-party payors® policies towards reimbursement for our preducts may reduce reimbursement of our
products costs and increase the amounts that patients have to pay themselves. There are also non-government
organizations that can influence the use of Nexavar and reimbursement decisions for Nexavar. For example, the
National Comprehensive Cancer Network, or NCCN, a not-for-profit alliance of cancer centers has issued
guidelines for the use of Nexavar in the treatment of advanced kidney cancer and advanced liver cancer. These
guidelines may affect treating physicians’ use of Nexavar in treatment-naive advanced kidney and liver cancer
patients.

Nexavar’s success in Europe will also depend largely on obtaining and maintaining government reimbursement
because, in many European countries, patients will not use prescription drugs that are not reimbursed by their
governments. Negotiating prices with governmental authorities can delay commercialization by twelve months or
more. Even if reimbursement is available, reimbursement policies may adversely affect our ability to sell our
products on a profitable basis. For example, in Europe as in many international markets, governments control the
prices of prescription pharmaceuticals and expect prices of prescription pharmaceuticals to decline over the life of -
the product or as volumes increase. We believe that this will continue into the foreseeable future as governments
struggle with escalating health care spending.

A number of additional factors may limit the market acceptance of products including the foillowing:
» rate of adoption by heaithcare practitioners;
* treatment guidelines 1ssued by government and non-government agencies;
« types of cancer for which the product is approved;
= rate of a product’s acceptance by the target population;
» timing of market entry relative to competitive products;
» availability of alternative therapies;
» price of our product relative to alternative therapies;
¢ extent of marketing efforts by us and third-party distributors or agents retained by us; and

= side effects or unfavorable publicity concerning our products or similar products.
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If Nexavar or any future product candidates that we may develop do not achieve market acceptance, we may not
realize sufficient revenues from product sales, which may cause our stock price to decline.

Our clinical trials could take longer to complete than we project or may not be completed at all.

Although, for planning purposes, we project the commencement, continuation and completion of ongoing clinical
trials, the actual timing of these events may be subject to significant delays relating to various causes, including
actions by Bayer, scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians and clinical institutions, difficulties in iden-
tifying and enrolling patients who meet trial eligibility criteria and shortages of available drug supply. We may not
complete clinical trials involving Nexavar as projected or at all.

We and Bayer are launching a broad, multinational Phase 2 program in advanced breast cancer. The program is
being coordinated primarily by Onyx and designed and led by an international group of experts in the field of breast
cancer and includes multiple randomized Phase 2 trials. Onyx has not conducted a clinical trial that has led to an
NDA filing. Consequently, we may not have the necessary capabilities to successfully manage the execution and
completion of these planned clinical trials in a way that leads to approval of Nexavar for the target indication. In
addition, we rely on Bayer, academic institutions, cooperative oncelogy organizations and clinical research
organizations to conduct, supervise or monitor most clinical trials involving Nexavar. We have less control over
the timing and other aspects of these clinical trials than if we conducted them entirely on our own. Failure to
commence or complete, or delays in our planned clinical trials would prevent us from commercializing Nexavar in
indications other than kidney cancer and liver cancer, and thus seriously harm our business.

If serious adverse side effects are associated with Nexavar, approval for Nexavar could be revoked, sales of
Nexavar could decline, and we may be unable to develop Nexavar as a treatment for other types of cancer.

The FDA-approved package insert for Nexavar for the treatment of patients with advanced kidney cancer and
unresectable liver cancer includes several warnings relating to observed adverse reactions. These include, but are
not limited to, cardiac ischemia and/or infarction; incidence of bleeding; hypertension which may occur early in the
therapy; hand-foot skin reaction and rash; and some instances of gastrointestinal perforations. Other treatment-
emergent adverse reactions observed in patients taking Nexavar include, but are not limited to, diarrhea, fatigue,
abdominal pain, weight loss, anorexia, alopecia, nausea and vomiting. With continued and potentially expanded
commercial use of Nexavar and additional clinical trials of Nexavar, we and Bayer anticipate we will routinely
update adverse reactions listed in the package insert to reflect current information. For example, subsequent to the
initial FDA approval, we and Bayer updated the package insert to include additional information on new adverse
reactions reported by physicians using Nexavar. If additional adverse reactions emerge, or a pattern of severe or
persistent previously observed side effects is observed in the Nexavar patient population, the FDA or other
international regulatory agencies could modify or revoke approval of Nexavar or we may choose to withdraw it from
the market. If this were to occur, we may be unable 1o obtain approval of Nexavar in additional indications and
foreign regulatory agencies may decline to approve Nexavar for use in any indication. Any of these outcomes would
have a material adverse impact on our business. In addition, if patients receiving Nexavar were to suffer harm as a
result of their use of Nexavar, these patients or their representatives may bring claims against us. These claims, or
the mere threat of these claims, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We are subject to extensive government regulation, which can be costly, time consuming and subject us to
unanticipated delays.

Drug candidates under development and approved for marketing are subject to extensive and rigorous domestic and
foreign regulation. We have received regulatory approval for the use of Nexavar in the treatment of advanced kidney
and liver cancer in the United States, the European Union and a number of foreign markets, and we are developing
Nexavar for several additional indications.

We rely on Bayer to manage communications with regulatory agencies, including filing new drug applications and
generally directing the regulatory processes for Nexavar. We and Bayer may not obtain necessary additional
approvals from the FDA or other regulatory authorities. If we fail to obtain required governmental approvals, we
will experience delays in or be precluded from marketing Nexavar in particular indications or countries. The FDA or
other regulatory authorities may approve only limited label information for the product. The label information
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describes the indications and methods of use for which the product is authorized, and if overly restrictive, may limit
our and Bayer’s ability to successfully market any approved product. If we have disagreements as to ownership of
clinical trial results or regulatory approvals, and the FDA refuses to recognize us as holding, or having access to, the
regulatory approvals necessary to commercialize our product candidates, we may experience delays in or be
precluded from marketing products.

The regulatory review and approval process takes many years, requires the expenditure of substantial resources,
involves post-marketing surveillance and may involve ongoing requirements for post-marketing studies, Additional
or more rigorous governmental regulations may be promulgated that could delay regulatory approval of Nexavar.
Delays in obtaining regulatory approvals would adversely affect the successful commercialization of Nexavar.

After Nexavar and any other products we may develop are marketed, the products and their manufacturers are
subject to continual review. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with Nexavar or manufacturing and
production by Bayer or other third parties may result in restrictions on Nexavar, including withdrawal of Nexavar
from the market. In addition, problems or failures with the products of others, before or after regulatory approval,
including our competitors, could have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain or maintain regulatory approval for
Nexavar. If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, we could be subject to penalties, including
fines, suspensions of regulatory approval, product recall, seizure of preducts and criminal prosecution.

We are dependent on the efforts of Bayer to market and promote Nexavar.

Under our collaboration and co-promotion agreements with Bayer, we and Bayer are co-promoting Nexavar in the
United States. If we continue to co-promote Nexavar, and continue to co-fund development in the United States, we
will share equally in profits or losses, if any, in the United States.

We do not, however, have the right to co-promote Nexavar in any country outside the United States, and will be
dependent solely on Bayer to promote Nexavar in foreign countries where Nexavar is approved. In all foreign
countries, except Japan, Bayer would first receive a portion of the product revenues to repay Bayer for its foreign
commercialization infrastructure, before determining our share of profits and losses. In Japan, we would receive a
royalty on any sales of Nexavar.

We have limited ability to direct Bayer in its promotion of Nexavar in foreign countries where Nexavar is approved.
Bayer may not have sufficient experience to promote oncology products in foreign countries and may fail to devote
appropriate resources to this task. 1If Bayer fails to adequately promote Nexavar in foreign countries, we may be
unable to obtain any remedy against Bayer. If this were to happen, sales of Nexavar in any foreign countries where
Nexavar is approved may be harmed, which would negatively impact our business.

Similarly, Bayer may establish a sales and marketing infrastructure for Nexavar outside the United States that is too
large and expensive in view of the magnitude of the Nexavar sales opportunity or establish this infrastructure too
early in view of the ultimate timing of potential regulatory approvals. Since we share in the profits and losses arising
from sales of Nexavar outside of the United States, rather than receiving a royalty (except in Japan), we are at risk
with respect to the success or failure of Bayer’s commercial decisions related to Nexavar as well as the extent to
which Bayer succeeds in the execution of its strategy.

We are dependent on the efforts of and funding by Bayer for the development Nexavar.

Under the terms of the collaboration agreement, we and Bayer must agree on the development plan for Nexavar. If
we and Bayer cannot agree, clinical trial progress could be significantly delayed or halted. Further, if we or Bayer
cease funding development of a product candidate under the collaboration agreement, then that party will be
entitled to receive a royalty on any product that is ultimately commercialized, but not to share in profits. Bayer
could, upon 6( days notice, elect at any time to terminate its co-funding of the development of Nexavar. If Bayer

terminates its co-funding of Nexavar development, we may be unable to fund the development costs on our own and

may be unable to find a new collaborator, which could cause our business to fail.
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We do not have manufacturing expertise or capabilities and are dependent on Bayer to fulfill our manufacturing
needs, which could result in lost sales and the delay of clinical trials or regulatory approval.

Under our collaboration agreement with Bayer, Bayer has the manufacturing responsibility to supply Nexavar for
clinical trials and to support our commercial requirements. However, should Bayer give up its right to co-develop
Nexavar, we would have to manufacture Nexavar, or contract with another third party to do so for us. We lack the
resources, experience and capabilities to manufacture Nexavar or any future product candidates on our own and
would require substantial funds to establish these capabilities. Consequently, we are, and expect to remain,
dependent on third parties to manufacture our product candidates and products. These parties may encounter
difficulties in production scale-up, including problems involving production yields, quality control and quality
assurance and shortage of qualified personnel. These third parties may not perform as agreed or may not continue to
manufacture our products for the time required by us to successfully market our products. These third parties may
fail to deliver the required quantities of our products or product candidates on a timely basis and at commercially
reasonable prices. Failure by these third parties could impair our ability to meet the market demand for Nexavar, and
could delay our ongoing clinical trials and our applications for regulatory approval. If these third parties do not
adequately perform, we may be forced to incur additional expenses to pay for the manufacture of products or to
develop our own manufacturing capabilities.

If Bayer’s business strategy changes, it may adversely affect our collaborative relationship.

Bayer may change its business strategy. Decisions by Bayer to either reduce or eliminate its participation in the
oncology field, or to add competitive agents to its portfolio, could reduce its financial incentive to promote Nexavar.
A change in Bayer’s business strategy may adversely affect activities under its collaboration agreement with us,
which could cause significant delays and funding shortfalls impacting the activities under the collaboration and
seriously harming our business.

We have a history of losses, and we may confinue to incur losses.

Our net loss for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $34.2 million, $92.7 million and
$95.2 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $472.7 mil-
lion. We have incurred these losses principally from costs incurred in our research and development programs, from
our general and administrative costs and the development of our commercialization infrastructure. We may
continue to incur operating losses as we and Bayer expand our development and commercial activities.

We have made significant expenditures towards the development and commercialization of Nexavar and may never
realize sufficient product sales to offset these expenditures. Our ability to achieve profitability depends vpon
success by us and Bayer in marketing the approved product, completing development of Nexavar and obtaining the
required regulatory approvals.

If we lose our key employees and consultants or are unable to attract or retain qualified personnel, our business
could suffer.

The loss of the services of key employees may have an adverse impact on our business unless or until we hire a
suitably qualified replacement. We do not maintain key person life insurance on any of our officers, employees or
consultants. Any of our key personnel could terminate their employment with us at any time and without notice. We
depend on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel. We face competition for
qualified individuals from numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, universities and other research
institutions. If we resume our research and development of product candidates other than Nexavar, we will need to
hire individuals with the appropriate scientific skills. If we cannot hire these individuals in a timely fashion, we will
be unable to engage in new product candidate discovery activities,

We may need additional funds, and our future access to capital is uncertain,

We may need additional funds to conduct the costly and time-consuming clinical trials necessary to develop
Nexavar for additional indications, pursue regulatory approval, commercialize Nexavar in Europe and the rest of the

21




world and acquire rights to additional product candidates. Our future capital requirements will depend upon a
number of factors, including:

+ revenue from our product sales;

» global product development and commercialization activities;

» the cost involved in enforcing patent claims against third parties and defending claims by third parties;
+ the costs associated with acquisitions or licenses of additional products;

* competing technological and market developments; and

» repayment of our of milestone-based advances.

We may not be able to raise additional capital on favorable terms, or at all. If we are unable to obtain additional
funds, we may not be able to fund our share of commercialization expenses and clinical trials. We may also have to
curtail operations or obtain funds through collaborative and licensing arrangements thatmay require us to relinguish
commercial rights or potential markets or grant licenses on terms that are unfavorable to us.

We believe that our existing capital resources and interest thereon will be sufficient to fund our current development
plans beyond 2009. However, if we change our development plans, acquire rights to or license additional products
or if Nexavar is not accepted in the marketplace, we may need additional funds sooner than we expect. In addition,
we anticipate that our share of expenses under our collaboration with Bayer may increase over the next several years
as we continue our share of funding for the Nexavar clinical development program and expansion of commercial
activities for Nexavar throughout the world. While these costs are unknown at the current time, we may need to raise
additional capital to continue -the co-funding of the Nexavar program through and beyond 2009.

While Nexavar has received marketing approvals in several countries outside of the United States, it has not been
approved in all of these foreign countries and may receive limited marketing approval or may be denied
marketing approval in additional countries.

In December 2005, the FDA granted full approval for the treatment of patients with advanced kidney cancer. In July
2006, the European Commission granted marketing authorization for Nexavar for the treatment of patients with
advanced kidney cancer who have failed prior interferon-alpha or interleukin-2 based therapy or are considered
unsuitable for such therapy. To date, Nexavar has received approvals in over 60 territories worldwide including the
United States and all of the major European countries for the treatment of advanced kidney cancer. In the fourth
quarter of 2007, Nexavar was approved by the FDA and European Union for the treatment of patients with liver
cancer. :

While Nexavar is currently approved in Europe for the ireatment of liver cancer, reimbursement discussions for this
indication are ongoing in several European countries. Nexavar is also approved for liver cancer in Canada and
several Latin American countries with launches planned for the first quarter of 2008. In addition, Bayer has filed for
the liver cancer indication in a number of regions, including Asia, notably, China, Korea, and Taiwan. Additional
foreign regulatory authorities may not, however, be satisfied with the safety and efficacy data submitted in support
of these foreign applications for liver cancer, which could resuit in non-approval, a requirement of additional
clinical trials, further analysis of existing data or a restricted use of Nexavar. Lack of marketing approval in a
particular country would prevent us from selling Nexavar in that country, which could harm our business. In
addition, we and Bayer will be required to negotiate the price of Nexavar with European governmental authorities in
order for Nexavar to be eligible for government reimbursement. In many European countries, patients will not use
prescription drugs that are not reimbursable by their governments. European price negotiations could delay
commercialization in a particular country by twelve months or more.

If the specialty pharmacies and distributors that we and Bayer rely upon to sell our products fail to perform, our
business may be adversely affected. "

Our success depends on the continued customer support efforts of our network of specialty pharmacies and
distributors. A specialty pharmacy is a pharmacy that specializes in the dispensing of medications for complex or
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chronic conditions, which often require a high level of patient education and ongoing management. The use of
specialty pharmacies and distributors involves certain risks, including, but not limited to, risks that these specialty
pharmacies and distributors will:

* ot provide us with accurate or timely information regarding their inventories, the number of patients who
are using Nexavar or complaints about Nexavar;

= ot eftectively sell or support Nexavar;
» reduce their efforts or discontinue to sell or support Nexavar,

* ot devote the resources necessary to sell Nexavar in the volumes and within the time frames that we
expect;

« be unable to satisfy financial obligations to us or others; and
= cease operations.
Any such failure may result in decreased product sales and profits, which would harm our business.

We or Bayer may not be able to protect our intellectual property, which gives us the power to exclude third parties
from using Nexavar, or we may not be able to operate our business without infringing upon the intellectual
property rights of others.

We can protect our technology from unauthorized use by others only to the extent that our technology is covered by
valid and enforceable patents or effectively maintained as trade secrets. As a result, we depend in part on our ability
to: ‘ :

» obtain patents;

= license technology rights from others;

« protect trade secrets;

» operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others; and
* prevent others from infringing on our proprietary rights.

In the case of Nexavar, the global patent applications related to this product candidate are held by Bayer, but
licensed to us in conjunction with our collaboration agreement with Bayer. Bayer has a United States Patent that
covers pharmaceutical compositions of Nexavar which will expire in 2022. Bayer also has a European Patent that
covers Nexavar, which will expire in 2020. Bayer has other patent applications that are pending worldwide that
cover Nexavar alone or in combination with other drugs for treating cancer. Certain of these patents may be subject
to possible patent-term extension, the entitlement to and the term of which cannot presently be calculated. As of
December 31, 2007, we owned or had licensed rights to 58 United States patents and 32 United States patent
applications and, generally, the foreign counterparts of these filings. Most of these patents or patent applications
cover protein targets used to identify product candidates during the research phase of our collaborative agreements
with Wamer-Lambert Company, now Pfizer, or Bayer, or aspects of our now discontinued virus program.
Additionally, we have corresponding patents or patent applications pending or granted in certain foreign
jurisdictions. ' :

The patent positions of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies are highly uncertain and involve complex
legal and factual questions. Our patents, or patents that we license from others, may not provide us with-proprietary
protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar technologies. Competitors may challenge or
circumvent our patents or patent applications. Courts may find our patents invalid. Due to the extensive time
required for development, testing and regulatory review of our potential products, our patents may expire or remain
in existence for only a short period following commercialization, which would reduce or eliminate any advantage
the patents may give us.

We may not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our issued or pending patent applications,
or we may not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions. Competitors may have
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independently developed technologies similar to ours. We may need to license the right to use third-party patents
and intellectual property to develop and market our product candidates. We may not acquire required licenses on
acceptable terms, if at all. If we do not obtain these required licenses, we may need to design around other parties’
patents, or we may not be abie to proceed with the development, manufacture or, if approved, sale of our product
candidates. We may face litigation to defend against claims of infringement, assert claims of infringement, enforce
our patents, protect our trade secrets or know-how, or determine the scope and validity of others’ proprietary rights.
In addition, we may require interference proceedings declared by the United States Patent and Trademark Office to
determine the priority of inventions relating to our patent applications. These activities, especially patent litigation,
are costly.

Bayer may have rights to publish data and information in which we have rights. In addition, we sometimes engage
individuals, entities or consultants to conduct research that may be relevani to our business. The ability of these
individuals, entities or consultants 1o publish or otherwise publicly disclose data and other information generated
during the course of their research is subject to certain contractual limitations. The nature of the limitations depends
on various factors, including the type of research being conducted, the ownership of the data and information and
the nature of the individual, entity or consultant. In most cases, these individuals, entities or consultants are, at the
least, precluded from publicly disclosing our confidential information and are only allowed to disclose other data or
information generated during the course of the research after we have been afforded an opportunity to consider
whether patent and/or other proprietary protection should be sought. If we do not apply for patent protection prior to
publication or if we cannot otherwise maintain the confidentiality of our technology and other confidential
information, then our ability to receive patent protection or protect our proprietary information will be harmed.

We may incur significant liability if it is determined that we are promoting the “off-label” use of drugs or are
otherwise found in violation of federal and state regulations in the United States or elsewhere.

Physicians may prescribe drug products for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that differ from
those approved by the FDA or other applicable regulatory agencies. Off-label uses are common across medical
specialties. Physicians may prescribe Nexavar for the treatment of cancers other than advanced kidney cancer or
liver cancer, although neither we nor Bayer are permitted to promote Nexavar for the treatment of any indication
other than advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer. The FDA and other regulatory agencies have not approved the
use of Nexavar for any other indications. Although the FDA and other regulatory agencies do not regulate a
physician’s choice of treatments, the FDA and other regulatory agencies do restrict communications on the subject
of off-label use, Companies may not promote drugs for off-label uses. Accordingly, prior to approval of Nexavar for
use in any indications other than advanced kidney cancer or liver cancer, we may not promote Nexavar for these
indications. The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce regulations prohibiting promotion of off-label
uses and the promotion of products for which marketing clearance has not been obtained. A company that is found
to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject 1o significant liability, including civil and administrative
remedies as well as criminal sanctions.

'

Notwithstanding the regularory restrictions on off-label promotion, the FDA and other regulatory authorities allow
companies to engage in truthful, non-misleading, and non-promotional speech concerning their products. We
engage in the support of medical education activities and communicate with investigators and poiential investi-
gators regarding our clinical trials. Although we believe that ail of our communications regarding Nexavar are in
compliance with the relevant regulatory requirements, the FDA or another regulatory authority may disagree, and
we may be subject to significant liability, including civil and administrative remedies as well as criminal sanctions.

We face product liability risks and may not be able to obtain adequate insurance.

The sale of Nexavar and its ongoing use in clinical trials exposes us to liability claims. Although we are not aware of
any historical or anticipated product fiability claims against us, if we cannot successfully defend ourselves against
product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of Nexavar.

We believe that we have obtained reasonably adequate product liability insurance coverage that includes the
commercial sale of Nexavar and our clinical trials. However, the cost of insurance coverage is rising. We may not be
able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost. We may not be able to obtain additicnal insurance
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coverage that will be adequate to cover product liability risks that may arise should a future product candidate
receive marketing approval. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

» decreased demand for a product;
= injury to our reputation;
« withdrawal of clinical trtal volunteers; and
e loss of revenues.
Thus, whether or not we are insured, a product liability claim or product recall may result in significant losses.

If we do not receive timely and accurate financial and market information from Bayer regarding the
development and sale of Nexavar, we may be unable to accurately report our results of operations.

Due to our collaboration with Bayer, we are highly dependent on Bayer for timely and accurate information
regarding the costs incurred in developing and selling Nexavar, and any revenues realized from its sale, in order to
accurately report our results of operations. If we do not receive timely and accurate information or incorrectly
estimate activity levels associated with the co-promotion and development of Nexavar at a given point in time, we
could record significant additional expense in future periods and may be required to restate our results for prior
periods. Such inaccuracies or restatements could cause a loss of investor confidence in our financial reporting or
lead to claims against us, resulting in a decrease in the trading price of shares of our common stock.

Pravisions in our collaboration agreement with Bayer may prevent or delay a change in control.

Our collaboration agreement with Bayer provides that if Onyx is acquired by another entity by reason of merger,
consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, and Bayer does not consent to the transaction, then for
60 days following the transaction, Bayer may elect to terminate Onyx’s co-development and co-promotion rights
under the collaboration agreement. If Bayer were to exercise this right, Bayer would gain exclusive development
and marketing rights to the product candidates developed under the collaboration agreement, including Nexavar. If
this happens, Onyx, or the successor to Onyx, would receive a royalty based on any sales of Nexavar and other
collaboration products, rather than a share of any profits which could substantially reduce the economic value
derived from the sales of Nexavar to Onyx or its successor. These provisions of our collaboration agreement with
Bayer may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, or a sale of all or substantially all of our
assets, or may reduce the number of companies interested in acquiring Onyx.

Accounting pronouncements may affect our future financial position and results of operations.

There may be new accounting pronouncements or regulatory rulings, which may have an effect on our future
financial position and results of operations. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, issued a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or FAS, No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation.” The revision is referred 1o as “FAS 123(R) — Share-Based Payment,” which supersedes
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and requires companies
to recognize compensation expense, using a fair-value based method, for costs related to share-based payments
including stock options and stock issued under our employee stock plans. We adopted FAS 123(R) using the
modified prospective basis on January 1, 2006, The adoption of FAS 123(R) had a material adverse impact on our
results of operations and our net loss per share. For example, as a result of our adoption of FAS 123(R), for the year
ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, our net loss increased by $14.1 million, or $0.28 per share, and
$14.0 million, or $0.33 per share, respectively. We expect that our future results will continue to be adversely
affected by FAS 123(R) and that the FASB could issue new accounting pronouncements that could affect our future
financial position and results of operations.

Our stock price is volatile.

Our stock price is volatile and is likely to continue to be volatile. In the period beginning January 1, 2003 and ending
December 31, 2007, our stock price ranged from a high of $59.50 and a low of $4.65. A variety of factors may have a
significant affect on our stock price, including:

+ flucwations in our results of operations;
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* interim or final results of, or speculation about, clinical trials of Nexavar, such as the announcement that we
and Bayer had stopped the Phase 3 clinical trial of Nexavar in combination with carboplatin and paclitaxel
in patients with NSCLC; :

» decision by regulatory agencies, or changes in regulatory requirements;
* ability to accrue patients into clinical trials;

* developments in our relationship with Bayer;

* public concern as to the safety and efficacy of our product candidates;
* changes in healthcare reimbursement policies;

* announcements by us or our competitors of technological innovations or new commercial therapeutic
products;

e government regulation;
* developments in patent or other proprietary rights or litigation brought against us;

* sales by us of our common stock or debt securities, including sales under our committed equity financing
facility arrangement with Azimuth;

* foreign currency fluctuations, which would affect our share of collaboration profits or losses; and
« general market conditions,
Existing stockholders have significant influence over us.

Our executive officers, directors and 5% stockholders own, in the aggregate, approximately 19% of our outstanding
common stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise substantial influence over all matters
requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transac-
tions. This could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company and will make some
transactions difficult or impossible to accomplish without the support of these stockholders.

Bayer, a collaborative party, has the right, which it is not currently exercising, to have its nominee elected to our
board of directors as long as we continue to collaborate on the development of a compound. Because of these rights,
ownership and voting arrangements, our officers, directors, principal stockholders and collaborator may be able to
effectively control the election of all members of the board of directors and determine all corporate actions.

A partion of our short-term investment portfolio is invested in auction rate securities, and if an auction fails for
amounts we have invested, our investment will not be liquid. If the issuer of an auction rate security that we hold
is unable to successfully close future auctions and their credit rating deteriorates, we may be required to
reclassify these securities to long term assets and adjust the carrying value of our investment through an
impairment charge.

A portion of our short-term investment portfolio is invested in auction rate securities. The underlying assets of these
securities are student loans substantially backed by the federal government. Due to adverse developments in the
credit markets, in February 2008 $35 million of these securities have experienced failures in the auction process.
When an auction fails for amounts we have invested, the investment becomes illiquid. [n the event of an auction
failure, we are not able to access these funds until a future auction on these investments is successful. If the issuer is
unable to successfully close future auctions and their credit rating deteriorates, we may be required to reclassify
these securities to long term assets and adjust the carrying value of the investment through an impairment charge.

We are at risk of securities class action litigation due to our expected stock price volatility.

In the past, stockholders have often brought securities class action litigation against a company following a decline
in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially acute for us, because biotechnology companies have
experienced greater than average stock price volatility in recent years and, as a result, have been subject to, on
average, a greater number of securities class action claims than companies in other industries. Our stock price has
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experienced significant volatility. Following our announcement in October 2004 of Phase 2 clinical trial data in
patients with advanced kidney cancer, our stock price declined significantly. In December 2006, following our
announcement that a Phase 3 trial administering Nexavar or placebo tablets in combination with the chemother-
apeutic agents carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with advanced melanoma did not meet its primary endpoint,
our stock price declined significantly. Similarly, following our announcement in February 2008 that one of our
Phase 3 trials for non-small cell lung cancer had been stopped because and independent DMC analysis concluded
that it did not meet its primary endpoint of improved overall survival, our stock price declined significantly. We may
in the future be the target of securities class action litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs,
could divert management’s attention and resources, and could seriously harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our operating results could be adversely affected by product sales occurring outside the United States and
fluctuations in the value of the United States dollar against foreign currencies.

A significant percentage of Nexavar sales are generated outside of the United States. Nexavar sales and operating
expenses denominated in foreign currencies could affect our operating results as foreign currency exchange rates
fluctuate. Changes in exchange rates between these foreign currencies and the U.S. Dollar will affect the recorded
fevels of our assets and liabilities as foreign assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. Dollars for presentation in
our financial statements, as well as our net sales, cost of goods sold, and operating margins. The primary foreign
currency in which we have exchange rate fluctuation exposure is the European Union Euro. As we expand, we could
be exposed to exchange rate fluctuation in other currencies. Exchange rates between these currencies and U.S.
Dollars have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may do so in the future. Hedging foreign currencies can be
difficult, especially if the currency is not freely traded. We cannot predict the impact of future exchange rate
fluctuations on our operating results. We currently do not hedge any foreign currencies

Provisions in Delaware law, our charter and executive change of control agreements we have entered into may
prevent or delay a change of control.

We are subject to the Delaware anti-takeover laws regulating corporate takeovers. These anti-takeover Jaws prevent
Delaware corporations from engaging in a merger or sale of more than 10% of its assets with any stockholder,
including all affiliates and associates of the stockholder, who owns 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding
voting stock, for three years following the date that the stockholder acquired 15% or more of the corporation’s stock
unless:

« the board of directors approved the transaction where the stockholder acquired 15% or more of the
corporation’s stock;

+ after the transaction in which the stockholder acquired 15% or more of the corporation’s stock, the
stockholder owned at least 85% of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock, excluding shares owned
by directors, officers and employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to
determine confidentially whether shares held under the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

» on or after this date, the merger or sale is approved by the board of directors and the holders of at least two-
thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the stockholder.

As such, these laws could prohibit or delay mergers or a change of control of us and may discourage attempts by
other companies to acquire us.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include a number of provisions that may deter or impede hostile
takeovers or changes of control or management. These provisions include:

* our board is classified into three classes of directors as nearly equal in size as possible with staggered three-
year terms;

s the authority of our board to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock and to determine the price,
rights, preferences and privileges of these shares, without stockholder approval;

« all stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called meeting of stockholders and not by written consent;
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» special meetings of the stockholders may be calied only by the chairman of the board, the chief executive
officer, the board or 10% or more of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting; and

+ no cumulative voting.

These provisions may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, even at stock prices higher than
the then current stock price.

‘We have entered into change in control severance agreements with each of our executive officers. These agreements
provide for the payment of severance benefits and the acceleration of stock option vesting if the executive officer’s
employment is terminated within 24 months of a change in control of Onyx. The change in control severance
agreements may have the effect of preventing a change in control.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item 2. Properties

We occupy 23,000 square feet of office space in our primary facility in Emeryville, California, which we began
occupying in December 2004. In December 2006, we amended the existing lease to occupy an additional
14,000 square feet of office space. The lease expires in March 2013.

We also lease an additional 9,000 square feet of space in a secondary facility in Richmond, California. The lease for
this facility expires in September 2010 with renewal options at the end of the lease for two subsequent five-year
terms. We are currently subleasing this facility. Please refer to Note 7 of the accompanying financial statements for
further information regarding our lease obtigations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securities Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Onyx’s stockholders during the quarter ended December 31, 2007.
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PART 1L

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of -
Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market (NASDAQ) under the symbol “ONXX” We commenced
trading on NASDAQ on May 9, 1996. The following table presents the high and low closing sales prices per share of
our commen stock reported on NASDAQ.

Common Stock

2007 2006
High Low High Low
First QUarter . . .. ..t vttt it a et $2903 $ 1074 §$ 2910 § 2582
Second QUArter. . .. ...ttt 33.93 25.25 25.29 14.67
Third QUarter ... ... v i e i e 44.13 26.77 17.29 12.87
Fourth Quarter .. ... ..t ia i 59.50 41.55 19.60 10.44

On February 25, 2008, the last reported sales price of our common stock on NASDAQ was $30.00 per share.

Stock Performance Graph

The following performance graph is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be
incorporated by reference in any filing by us under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), ot
the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language in any such filing. The stock price performance shown on the graph is not necessarily indicative of future
price performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among ONYX Pharmaceuticals, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index

Dec-02 Dec03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07
—— ONYX Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 100.00 485.89 557.49 495.70 182.10 957.31
-a- NASDAG Composite 100.00 149.75 164.64 168.60 187.83 205.22
-2- NASDAQ Pharmaceutical 100.00 144.89 160.46 160.65 163.42 154.48

Holders

There were 289 holders of record of our common stock as of February 25, 2008.
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Dividends

Onyx has not paid cash dividends on its common stock and does not plan to pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not repurchase any of our equity securities during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

This section presents our selected historical financial data. You should read the financial statements carefully and
the notes thereto included in this report and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

The Statement of Operations data for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 and the Balance Sheet
data as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 has been derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere
in this report. The Statement of Operations data for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the Balance
Sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 has been derived from our audited financial statements that are
not included in this report. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results. See the Notes to
Financial Statements for an explanation of the method used to determine the number of shares used in computing
basic and diluted net loss per share.
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
T (Tl:housands, e;(ce_pl per share m -

Statement of Operations Data:

Total Revenue $ -3 250 % 1,000 § 500 $ -
Operating expenses:

Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated

joint business (32,536) 23915 - - -
Research and development 25,413 30,980 63,120 35,846 32,059
Selling, general and administrative 60,546 50,019 39,671 14,316 7,939
Restructuring - - - 258 5,530
Loss from operations (53,423  (104,664) (101,791 (49,920) {45,528)
Interest and other income and expense, net 19,256 11,983 6,617 3,164 559
Net loss $ (34,167) 3% (92,681) $ (95174) $ (46,756) $ (44,969)
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ 06 $ (2200 3 (264 $ (1360 3 07

Shares used in computing basic and diluted
net loss per share 51,177 42,170 36,039 34,342 25,953
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December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
{In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable

securitics $ 469,650 % 271,403 § 284,680 $ 209,624 $ 105,400
Total assets 484,083 286,246 294,665 215,546 109,138
Working capital 469,215 256,699 241,678 197,873 92,826
Advance from collaboration partner 39,234 40,000 30,000 20,000 20,000
Accumulated deficit (472,658) (438,491)  (345,810) (250,636) (203,880
Total stockholders’ equity 432,237 222,780 223,240 179,988 73,519

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. We use words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential” “believe,” “should™ and similar expressions 1o
identify forward-looking statements. These statements appearing throughout our 10-K are statements regarding our
inten1, belief, or current expectations, primarily regarding our operations. You should not place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many reasons,
including those set forth under “Business” Item 1A “Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. '

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing innovative therapies that target the molecular
mechanisms that cause cancer. With our collaborators, we are developing small molecule drugs with the goal of
changing the way cancer is treated™. We are applying our expertise to develop and commercialize oral anticancer
therapies designed to prevent cancer cell proliferation and angiogenesis by inhibiting proteins that signal or support
tumor growth. By exploiting the genetic differences between cancer cells and normal cells, we aim to develop and
market novel anticancer agents that minimize damage to healthy tissue. Our first commercially available product,
Nexavar® {scrafenib) tablets, being developed with cur collaborator, Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc., or
Bayer, is approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for advanced kidney cancer and
liver cancer. Nexavar is a novel, orally available kinase and angiogenesis inhibitor and is one of a new class of
anticancer treatments that target signaling pathways important to the proliferation of cancer cells. In December
2005 Nexavar became the first newly approved drug for patients with advanced kidney cancer in over a decade.
Subsequently, in the fourth quarter of 2007, Nexavar was approved as the first and is currently the only systemic
therapy for the treatment of patients with liver cancer. Nexavar is now approved in more than 60 countries for the
treatment of advanced kidney cancer and in more than 30 countries for the treatment of liver cancer.

With our collaborator, Bayer, we are commercializing Nexavar® (sorafenib) Tablets, for the treatment of patients
with advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer. Nexavar has been approved and is marketed for these indications in
the United States and in the European Union, as well as other territories worldwide. In the United States, Bayer and
Onyx co-promote Nexavar. Outside of the United States, Bayer manages all commercialization activities. In 2006,
worldwide net sales of Nexavar as recorded by Bayer were $165 million. For the year ended December 31, 2007,
worldwide net sales of Nexavar as recorded by Bayer were $371.7 million.

in collaboration with Bayer, we initially focused on demonstrating Nexavar’s ability to benefit patients suffering
from a cancer for which there were no or few established therapies. With the approval of Nexavar for the treatment
of advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer, the two companies have established the Nexavar brand and created a
global commercial oncology presence. In order to benefit as many patients as possible, we and Bayer are
investigating the administration of Nexavar with previously approved anticancer therapeutics in more common
cancers, with the objective of enhancing the anti-tumor activity of existing therapies through combination with
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Nexavar. The first pivotal trial in one of the more frequently occurring cancers is the Phase 3 trial administering
Nexavar in combination with standard chemotherapy for patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Although this
trial was stopped because an independent DMC analysis concluded that it did not meet its primary end point of
improved overall survival, we continue to have other trials in non small celf lung cancer, or NSCLC. We and Bayer
are also planning a broad clinical program in breast cancer, as well as other tumor types.

We and Bayer are developing and marketing Nexavar under our collaboration and co-promotion agreements. We
fund 50% of the development costs for Nexavar worldwide, excluding Japan. With Bayer, we co-promote Nexavar
in the United States and share equally in any profits or losses. Outside of the United States, excluding Japan, Bayer
has exclusive marketing rights and we share profits equally. In Japan, Bayer funds all product development, and we
will receive a royalty on any sales. Our agreement with Bayer also provides that we receive creditable milestone-
based payments totaling $40 million, all of which have been received. These payments are repayable by us to Bayer
from a portion of our share of any quarterly collaboration profits and royalties after deducting certain contractually
agreed upon expenditures, As of December 31, 2007, $766,000 of this amount was paid back to Bayer based on the
profitability of the three months ended September 30, 2007.

We have had significant losses since inception, Our ability to achieve continued and sustainable profitability is
uncertain and is dependant on a number of factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, the level of patient
demand for Nexavar, the ability of Bayer’s distribution network to process and ship product on a timely basis,
investments in sales and marketing efforts to support the sales of Nexavar, Bayer and our investments in the research
and development of Nexavar, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, and expenditures we may incur to acquire
additional products. Qur operating results will likely fluctuate from fiscal quarter to fiscal quarter and from year to
year, and are difficult to predict. Since inception, we have relied on public and private financings, combined with
milestone payments from our collaborators to fund our operations and may continue to do so in future periods. Asof
December 31, 2007, our accumulated deficit was approximately $472.7 millior.

Our business is subject to significant risks, including the risks inherent in our development efforts, the results of the
Nexavar clinical trials, the marketing of Nexavar as a treatment for patients in approved indications, our dependence
on collaborative parties, uncertainties associated with obtaining and enforcing patents, the lengthy and expensive
regulatory approval process and competition from other products. For a discussion of these and some of the other
risks and uncertainties affecting our business, see Item 1A *Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates

The accompanying discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
financial statements and the related disclosures, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts in our financial statements and accompanying notes.
These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. We consider
certain accounting policies related to net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business, stock-based
compensation and research and development expenses to be critical policies. We base our estimates and judgments
on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Significant estimates used in 2007 included assumptions used in the determination of stock-based compensation
related to stock options granted. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. '

We believe the following policies to be the most critical to understanding our financial condition and results of
operations, because they require us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments about matters that are inherently
uncertain. :

Net Expense due to (from} Unconsolidated Joint Business: Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint
business relates to our collaboration with Bayer for the development and marketing of Nexavar. It consists of our
share of the pretax collaboration profit (loss) generated from our collaboration agreement with Bayer net of the
reimbursement of our research and development and marketing expenses related to Nexavar. Under the collab-
oration, Bayer recognizes all revenue from the sale of Nexavar worldwide. The net expense due to (from)
unconsolidated joint business is, in effect, the net amount due to or received from Bayer to balance the companies’
economics under the Nexavar collaboration. Under the terms of the collaboration, the companies share all research

32




and development, marketing and non-United States sales expenses, excluding Japan. Some of the revenue and
expenses recorded to derive the net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business during the period presented
are estimates of both parties and are subject to further adjustment based on each party’s final review should actual
results differ materially from these estimates. If we underestimate activity levels associated with the collaboration
of Nexavar at a given point in time, we could be required to record significant additional expenses in future periods.

Stock Based-Compensation: Effective Janvary |, 2006, we adopted the Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, or FAS, No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” (“FAS 123(R)"), which requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based payments made to employees and directors including
employee stock option awards and employee stock purchases made under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or
ESPP, based on estimated fair value. We previously applied the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion,
or APB, No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB 25”) and related Interpretations and provided
the required pro forma disclosures under FAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” or FAS 123.

We adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method beginning January 1, 2006. Accordingly,
during the year ended December 31, 2006, we recorded stock-based compensation expense for awards granted prior to
but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 as if the fair value method required for pro forma disclosure under FAS 123 were
in effect for expense recognition purposes adjusted for estimated forfeitures, For these awards, the Company has
continved to recognize compensation expense using the accelerated amortization method under FASB Interpretation
No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans.” For stock-based
awards granted after January 1, 2006, we recognized compensation expense based on the estimated grant date fair value
method required under FAS 123(R). The compensation expense for these awards was recognized using a straight-line
amortization method. The net loss for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 includes stock-based compensation
expense of $14.) million, or $0.28 per share; and $14.0 million, or $0.33 per share, respectively, for the adoption of
FAS 123(R). As of December 31, 2007, the total unrecorded stock-based compensation balance for unvested shares, net
of expected forfeitures, was $26.9 million, which is expected to be amortized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.”
We have elected to adopt the alternative transition method provided in the FASB Staff Position for calculating the
tax effects, if any, of stock-based compensation expense pursuant to FAS 123(R). The alternative transition method
includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool (APIC pool)
related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, and to determine the subsequent impact to the
APIC pool and the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows of the tax effects of employee stock-based
compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of FAS 123(R).

While fair value may be readily determinable for awards of stock, market quotes are not available for long-term,
nontransferable stock options because these instruments are not traded. We currently use the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock options. Option valuation models require the input of highly
subjective assumptions, including, but not limited to, stock price volatility and stock option exercise behavior, We
expect to continue to use the Black-Scholes model for valuing our stock-based compensation expense. However,
our estimate of future stock-based compensation expense will be affected by a number of items including our stock
price, the number of stock options our board of directors may grant in future periods, as well as a number of complex
and subjective valuation adjustments and the related tax effect. These valuation assumptions include, but are not
limited to, the volatility of our stock price, expected life and stock option exercise behaviors. Actual results could
differ materially from these estimates.

Research and Development Expense: In accordance with Financial Accouniing Standards Board, or FASB,
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or FAS, No. 2, “Accounting for Research and Development Costs,”
research and development costs are charged to expense when incurred. The major components of research and
development costs include clinical manufacturing costs, clinical trial expenses, consulting and other third-party
costs, salaries and employee benefits, stock-based compensation expense, supplies and materials and allocations of
various overhead and occupancy costs. Not all research and development costs are incurred by us. A significant
portion of our research and development expenses, approximately 82% in 2007, 79% in 2006 and 83% in 2005,
relates to our cost sharing arrangement with Bayer and represents our share of the research and development costs
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incurred by Bayer. Such amounts were recorded based on invoices and other information we receive from Bayer.
When such invoices have not been received, we must estimate the amounts owed to Bayer based on discussions with
Bayer. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. Prior to 2006, research and development costs
included in our research and development line item represented our share of development expenses under the
collaboration with Bayer. Beginning in 2006, consistent with the terms of our collaboration agreement, our share of
Bayer’s Nexavar product development expenses are included in net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint
business. Thus, in 2007 and 2006, only our direct research and development expenses are included in the research
and development line item in our Statement of Operations.

In instances where we enter into agreements with third parties for clinical trials and other consulting activities, costs
are expensed upon the earlier of when non-refundable amounts are due or as services are performed. Amounts due
under such arrangements may be either fixed fee or fee for service, and may include upfront payments, monthly
payments, and payments upon the completion of milestones or receipt of deliverables.

Our cost accruals for clinical trials are based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to
contracts with numerous clinical trial sites cooperative groups and clinical research organizations. In the normal
course of business we contract with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the on-going
development of potential products. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and variation
from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under the contracts depend on factors
such as the achievement of certain events, the successful enrollment of patients, and the completion of portions of
the clinical trial or similar conditions. The objective of our accrual policy is to match the recording of expenses in
our financial statements to the actual services received and efforts expended. As such, expense accruals related to
clinical trals are recognized based on our estimate of the degree of completion of the event or events specified in the
specific clinical study or trial contract. We monitor service provider activities to the extent possible; however, if we
underestimate activity levels associated with various studies at a given point in time, we could be required to record
significant additional research and development expenses in future periods.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Revenie. Nexavar, our only marketed product, was approved in the United States in December 2005. In
accordance with our collaboration agreement with Bayer, Bayer recognizes all revenue from the sale of Nexavar.
As such, for the years ended December 3 1, 2007 and 2006, we reported no revenue related to Nexavar. Nexavar net
sales, as recorded by Bayer, for the year ended December 31, 2007 were $371.7 million as compared to
$165.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, primarily from sales in the United States and the European
Union.

License Revenne. License revenue was zero in 2007, $250,000 in 2006 and $1.0 million in 2005. License revenue
in 2006 represents $100,000 recognized for selling the rights to certain viruses from our now discontinued
therapeutic virus program to Shanghai Sunway Biotech Co. Ltd and $150,000 recognized for licensing rights to
certain_cytopathic viruses for therapy and prophylaxis of neoplasia to DNAtriX. License revenue in 2005
represented a payment from Shanghai Sunway Biotech Co. Ltd. in exchange for the transfer to Shanghai Sunway
of the intellectual property and know-how related to ONYX-015. We have no ongoing performance chligations
under any of these agreements.

Net Expense due to (from} Unconsolidated Joint Business. Nexavar is corrently marketed and sold in the United States,
several countries in the European Union and other countries worldwide. We co-promote Nexavar in the United States
with Bayer under a collaboration agreement. Under the terms of the collaboration agreement, we share equally in the
profits or losses of Nexavar, if any, in the United States, subject only to our continued co-funding of the development
costs of Nexavar outside of Japan and our continued co-promotion of Nexavar in the United States. The collaboration
was created through a contractual arrangement, not through a joint venture or other legal entity.

Outside of the United States, excluding Japan, Bayer incurs all of the sales and marketing expenditures, and Onyx
reimburses Bayer for half of those expenditares. In addition, for sales generated omside of the United States,
excluding Japan, Onyx reimburses Bayer a fixed percentage of sales to reimburse them for their marketing
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infrastructure. Research and development expenditures on a worldwide basis, excluding Japan, are equally shared
by both companies regardless of whether we or Bayer incurs the net expense. In Japan, Bayer is responsible for all
development and marketing costs and we will receive a royalty on net sales of Nexavar.

In the United Sates, Bayer provides all product distribution and all marketing support services for Nexavar,
including managed care, customer service, order entry and billing. We compensate Bayer for distribution expenses
based on a fixed percent of gross sales of Nexavar in the United States. We reimburse Bayer for half of its expenses
for marketing services provided by Bayer for the sale of Nexavar in the United States. We and Bayer share equally in
any other out-of-pocket marketing expenses (other than expenses for sales force and medical science liaisons) that
we and Bayer incur in connection with the marketing and promotion of Nexavar in the United States. Bayer
manufactures all Nexavar sold and is reimbursed at an agreed transfer price per unit for the cost of goods sold in the
United States.

In the United States, we contribute half of the overall number of sales force personnel required to market and
promote Nexavar and half of the medical science liaisons to support Nexavar. Onyx and Bayer each bears its own
sales force and medical science liaison expenses. These expenses are not included in the calculation of the profits or
losses of the collaboration.

Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business consists of our share of the pretax collaboration profit
(loss) generated from our collaboration with Bayer net of the reimbursement of our marketing and research and
development costs related to Nexavar. Under the collaboration, Bayer recognizes all revenue from the sale of
Nexavar worldwide. Collaboration profit (loss) is derived by calculating net sales of Nexavar to third-party
customers and deducting cost of goods sold, distribution costs, marketing costs (including without limitation,
advertising and education expenses, selling and promotion expenses, marketing personnel expenses, and Bayer
marketing services expenses), Phase 4 clinical trial costs, allocable overhead costs and research and development
costs, The net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business is, in effect, the net amount due to or received
from Bayer to balance the companies’ economics under the Nexavar collaboration. As noted above, United States
sales force and medical science liaison expenditures incurred by both companies are borne by each company
separately and are not included in the calculation. Some of the revenue and expenses recorded to derive the net
expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business during the period presented are estimates of both parties and
are subject to further adjustment based on each party’s final review should actual resuits materially differ from these
estimates. If we underestimate activity levels associated with the collaboration of Nexavar at a given point in time,
the Company could be required to record significant additional expense in future periods.

Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business decreases with increased Nexavar net revenue and as the
differential between Bayer’s and our shared Nexavar expenses declines. Conversely, if Nexavar net revenue
declines or if the differential between Bayer’s and our shared Nexavar expenses increases, net expense due to (from)
unconsolidated joint business will increase. When the combined collaboration is consistently profitable, that is,
when Nexavar net revenue is consistently greater than Bayer’s and our shared Nexavar expenses, we expect to report
a net profit from unconsolidated joint business on our revenue line. We expect Bayer’s and our shared Nexavar
research and development expenses to increase in future periods. We also expect Bayer’s and our shared cost of
goods sold, distribution, selling and general administrative expense to increase as we and Bayer continue to expand
Nexavar marketing and sales activities. Due to the uncertainty in Bayer’s revenue from the sale of Nexavar and the
relative expenses of Bayer’s and our shared Nexavar expenses, it is not possible to predict our net expense due to
{from) unconsolidated joint business for future periods. - -

For the year ended December 31, 2007, net expense due from unconsolidated joint business was $32.3 million. This
amount is recorded as a contra-expense in our Statement of Operations as the collaboration is not yet and may not
become consistently. profitable. For the year ended December 31, 2006, net expense due to unconsolidated joint
business was $23.9 million. The change is primarily due to an increase in Nexavar revenue recognized by Bayer, the
reduction of combined research and development expenses, partially offset by an increase in the combined
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commercial expenses for Nexavar. Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 is calculated as follows:

Year Ended Decemnber 31,

w7 2006
(In thousands)

Product revenue, net $ 371,736 § 164,994
Combined cost of goods sold, distribution, selling,

general and administrative 223,682 123,004
Combined research and development 157,383 161,180
Combined collaberation loss b 9329 % 119,190
Onyx’s share of collaboration loss ] $ 4665 $ 59,595
Reimbursement of Onyx’s direct development and marketing expenses 37,201 35,680
Onyx’s net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business $ (3253 § 23915

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $25.4 million in 2007, a net
decrease of $3.6 million, or 18%, from $31.0 miilion in 2006. Research and development expenses include stock-
based compensation of $4.2 million and $2.6 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively. The decrease in research and
development was due to offsetting factors. The 2007 costs include increased costs for the startup of the Phase 2
breast trials. Offsetting this increase for a net decrease in research and development expenses is reduced costs in
melanoma spending as patients come off study from this program. We expect Bayer’s and our shared Nexavar
research and development expenses to increase in future periods as the companies develop Nexavar for indications
beyond advanced kidney and liver cancer, Onyx and Bayer are continuing to expand their investment in the
development of Nexavar by conducting clinical trials to test Nexavar’s efficacy in more prevalent tumor types, such
as lung cancer and breast cancer, in combination with already approved anti-cancer therapies.

Research and development expenses were $31.0 million, including stock-based compensation expense of $2.6 mil-
lion in 2006, a net decrease of $32.1 million, or 51%, from $63.1 million in 2005. We did not record expenses for
employee stock-based compensation prior to our adoption of FAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006. The decrease was
primarily due to the change in presentation of our Statement of Operations to reflect the co-promotion agreement by
including the net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business line item. Our share of Bayer’s Nexavar
product development expenses is included in net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. In years prior to 2006, Bayer’s Nexavar product development expense was
included in research and development expense. In the current presentation which began in 2006, only our direct
research and development expenses are included in the research and development line item.

The major components of research and development costs include clinical manufacturing costs, clinical trial
expenses, consulting and other third-party costs, salaries and employee benefits, stock-based compensation
expense, supplies and materials and allocations of various overhead and occupancy costs. The scope and magnitude
of future research and development expenses are difficult to predict at this time given the number of studies that will
need to be conducted for any of our potential product candidates. In general, biopharmaceutical development
involves a series of steps beginning with identification of a potential taiget and includes proof of concept in animals
and Phase 1, 2 and 3 clinical studies in humans, each of which is typically more ekpensive than the previous step,

The following table summarizes our principal product development inifiatives, including the related stages of
development for each product in development and the research and development expenses recognized in connection
with each product. The information in the column labeled “Phase of Development - Estimated Completion™ is only
our estimate of the timing of completion of the current in-process development phases based on current information.
The actual timing of completion of those phases could differ materially from the estimates provided in the table. We
cannot reasonably estimate the timing of completion of each clinical phase of our development programs due to the
risks and uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical product candidates. The clinical development
portion of these programs may span as many as seven to ten years, and estimation of completion dates or costs to
compiete would be highly speculative and subjective due to the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with
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developing biopharmaceutical products, including significant and changing government regulation, the uncertainty

of future preclinical and clinical study results and uncertainties associated with process development and man-

ufacturing as well as marketing. For a discussion of the risks and uncertainties associated with the timing and cost of

completing a product development phase, see Item 1A “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Research and

Devetopment Expenses
For the Year Ended

Collabo- Phase of Development — December 31,
Product Description rator Estimated Completion 2007 2006 2005
- {In millions)
Nexavar Small molecule inhibitor Bayer
(sorafenib) of tumor cell proliferation Phase 1 — 2004
Tablets{1) and angiogenesis, targeting Phase 2 — Unknown
RAF, VEGFR-2, PDGFR- Phase 3 — Unknown
B, KIT, FLT-3, and RET. $83.3(2) $84.2(2) $62.1
Therapeutic Programs discontinued
Virus during the second quarter
Programs(3) of 2003. — - - - _ 1.0
Total Research and Development Expenses  $83.3 $84.2 $63.1

(1) Aggregate research and development costs to-date through December 31, 2007 incurred by Onyx since fiscal
year 2000 for the Nexavar project is $302.3 million.

(2) Costs reflected in this table represent our share of Bayer’s product development costs included in net expense
due to (from) unconsolidated joint business and our direct research and development costs.

(3) Costs in 2005 were comprised of:
a. stock-based compensation for consultants;
b. consulting fees for consultants retained in connection with the orderly wind-down of the virus programs
and preservation of related assets for potential future divestiture or commercialization; and
¢. outside services related to stability testing and storage of virus product related to the programs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  Selling, general and administrative expenses were $60.5 million in
2007, a net increase of $10.5 million, or 21%, from $50.0 million in 2006. Selling, general and administrative
expenses include stock-based compensation of $11.4 million and $11.8 million for 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily due to Onyx incurring more of the shared
marketing expenses in the United States and a planned increase in personnel in our commercial and administrative
functions needed to support Onyx’s growth and other salary related expenses, including bonuses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $50.0 million, including stock-based compensation expense of
$11.8 million, in 2006, a net increase of $10.3 million, or 26%, from $39.7 million in 2005. We did not expense
employee stock-based compensation prior to our adoption of FAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006. In addition to the
stock-based compensation expense, the increase was primarily due to the establishment of our United States
Nexavar sales force in the second half of 2005 and our marketing expenses relating to the Nexavar launch.
Offsetting this increase is a change in accounting presentation of our Statement of Operations to reflect the co-
promotion agreement by including net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business. Our share of Bayer’s
Nexavar-related marketing expenses is included in the net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business line
item. In years prior to 2006, our share of Nexavar-related marketing expenses was included in the Company’s
selling, general and administrative line item. Under the current presentation only our direct selling, general and
administrative expenses are included in the selling, general and administrative expenses line item. Our direct
selling, general and adminisirative expenses increased in 2006 due to the adoption of FAS 123(R), as weli as the
payroll-related costs of our sales force and medical science liaisons who were hired in the second half of 2003.

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, selling and promo-
tions, consulting, other third party costs, corporate functional expenses and allocations for overhead and occupancy
COSts. ‘
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Interest Income. We had interest income of $19.3 million in 2007, an increase of $7.3 million from 2006,
primarily due to higher average cash balances in 2007 compared to 2006. Our average cash balances in 2007
benefited from our June 2007 sale of equity securities from which we received approximately $174.2 million in net -
cash proceeds, and our April 2007 sale of equity securities to Azimuth from which we received approximately
$30.8 million,

We had net interest income of $12.0 mitlion in 2006, an increase of $5.7 million from 2005, primarily due to higher
interest rates in 2006 compared to 2005. In addition, our average cash balances in 2006 benefited from our October
and November 2006 sale of equity securities from which we received approximately $74.4 million in net cash
proceeds. Interest expense was immaterial for the periods presented.

Other Income.  In April 2005, we redeemed our investrnent in Syrrx, Inc. as a result of the acquisition of Syrrx by
Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited. We received cash of $750,000 as a result of the redemption, which
resulted in a gain of $375,000. This amount was recorded as “Other income.” No similar items were recorded in
other fiscal years presented.

Income Taxes

Since our inception, we have incurred operating losses and as a result have not recorded a provision for income taxes
for any of the periods presented. As of December 31, 2007, our net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state
income tax purposes were approximately $418.7 million and $389.8 million, respectively. We also had federal and
state research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately $34.8 million and $4.2 million,
respectively. Realization of these deferred tax assets is dependent upen future earnings, if any, the timing and
amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation
allowance, If not utilized, the net operating loss and credit carryforwards will begin to expire in 2008. Additionally,
utilization of net operating losses and credits may be subject to substantial annual limitations due to ownership
change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions, The
annual lirnitations may result in the expiration of our net operating loss and credit carryforwards before they can be
used. Please refer to Note 12 of the accompanying financial statements for further information regarding income
taxes.

Related Party Transactions

‘We had a loan with a former employee of which approximately $228,000 was outstanding at December 31, 2006.
This loan bore interest at 4.82% per annum. In 2007, $87,000 of principal and interest was forgiven and the
remaining loan balance of $152,000 was repaid in October 2007 in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have incurred losses, and we have relied primarily on public and private financing,
combined with milestone payments we have received from our collaborators to fund our operations

At December 31, 2007, we had cash, cash equivalents, and short and long-term marketable securities of
$469.7 million, compared to $271.4 million at December 31, 2006 and $284.7 million at December 31, 2005.
The increase in cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities in 2007 of $198.3 millicn is primarily due to our
public offering completed in June 2007, which raised cash proceeds, net of underwriting discounts and commis-
sions, of $174.2 million, our April 2007 sale of equity securities to Azimuth from which we received approximately
$30.8 million in net cash proceeds and the exercise of stock options during the twelve-month period ended
December 31, 2007 from which we received $21.9 million. This increase was partially offset by $26.4 million of
cash used to fund our operations.

The decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities in 2006 of $13.3 million is primarily due to net
cash used in operating activities of $100.2 million. This use of cash was partially offset by net cash proceeds of
$74.4 from our October and November sales of equity securities under our committed equity financing, $2.5 million
from stock option exercises and the $10.0 million milestone-based advance received from Bayer in Januvary 2006.
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Our cash used in operations was $26.4 million in 2007, $100.2 million in 2006 and $72.6 million in 2005. In 2007,
the cash used primarily related to the net loss of the 2007 year-end. In 2006, the cash used primarily related to the net
loss and payments of the 2005 year-end and 2006 first, second and third quarter payables to Bayer, our collaboration
partner. Expenditures for capital equipment amounted to $2.7 million in 2007, $619,000 in 2006 and $624,000 in
2005. Capital expenditures were primarily for equipment to accommodate our employee growth. We currently
expect to make capital expenditures of up 1o $3.7 million in 2008 primarily for leasehold improvemenis, furniture
and equipment and information technology software.

In September 2006, we secured a commitment for up to $150 million in a common stock purchase agreement with
Azimuth Opportunity Ltd. or Azimuth. During the two-year term of the commitment, Onyx may sell at its discretion
registered shares of its common stock to Azimuth at a discount to the market price ranging from 3.30% to 5.05%.
Onyx will determine, at its sole discretion, the timing and amount of any sales of stock, subject to certain conditions.
Under this commitment, Azimuth has purchased an aggregate of 5,573,010 shares of our common stock, or
$106 million, to date, leaving $44 million remaining on the line. In April 2007, Azimuth purchased 1,246,912 shares
of our common stock for a purchase price of $31.0 million resuiting in approximately $30.8 million in net cash
proceeds received by us. In October and November 2006, Azimuth purchased an aggregate of 4,326,098 shares of
our common stock under the purchase agreement for an aggregate purchase price of $75.0 million. We received
$74.4 million in net proceeds from the sale of these shares after deducting our offering expenses.

Due to the recent adverse developments in the credit markets, the Company may experience reduced liquidity with
respect to some of its investments in auction rate securities, which are currently rated AAA and are classified as
short-term investments. As of December 31, 2007, the Company held $50 million in auction rate securities
$35 million of which have experienced failures in the auction process. These developments could result in the
reclassification of such securities to fong-term investments in future periods. We believe that, even after aliowing
for the reclassification of these securities to long term assets and the possible requirement to hold all such secunities
for an indefinite period of time, our remaining cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments will be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months.

We believe that our existing capital resources and interest thereon will be sufficient to fund our current and planned
operations beyond 2009. However, if we change our development plans, including acquiring additional product
candidates or complementary businesses, we may need additional funds sooner than we expect. In addition, we
anticipate that our co-development costs for the Nexavar program may increase over the next several years as we
continue to fund our share of the clinical development program and prepare for the potential product launches
throughout the world. While these costs are unknown at the current time, we may need to raise additional capital to
continue the co-funding of the program in future periods beyond 2009. We intend to seek any required additional
funding through collaborations, public and private equity or debt financings, capital lease transactions or other
available financing sources. Additional financing may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. If additional
funds are raised by issuing equity securities, substantial dilution to existing stockholders may result. If adequate
funds are not available, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our
development programs or to obtain funds through collaborations with others that are on unfavorable terms or that
may require us to relinquish rights to certain of our technologies, product candidates or products that we would
otherwise seck to develop on our own.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our contractual obligations for the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1-3 35 After
Contractual Obligations(1) Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
{In thousands)
Operating leases, net of sublease income .............. $5,990 $1,020 $2.230 $2.424 $316

(1) This table does not include any payments under research and development collaborations, as the amount and
timing of such payments are not known. This table also does not include the obligation to repay the
$39.2 million outstanding balance of creditable milestone-based payments, which we received from Bayer,
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as of December 31, 2007 because the repayment of this amount is contingent upon the collaboration or Onyx
generating profits after deducting certain contractually agreed upon expenditures.

In 2006, we amended our existing operating lease to occupy 14,000 square feet of office space in addition to the
23,000 square feet already occupied in Emeryville, California, which serves as our corporate headquarters. The
lease expires on March 31, 2013. When we moved into this new facility in December 2004, we vacated our
50,000 square foot facility in Richmond, California. The lease for this facility expired in April 2005, and we did not
renew this lease. We also have a lease for 2,000 square feet of space in a secondary facility in Richmond, California
which we are currently subleasing through September 2010.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issuved FAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” (“FAS 1577). FAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under United States generally accepted accounting
principles and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. FAS 157 applies under other accounting
standards that require or permit fair value measurements. Accordingly, FAS 157 does not require any new fair
value measurement. FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after Novem-
ber 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the
adoption of FAS 157 will have on its financial statements and cannot estimate the effect of such adoption at this
time.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — including an amendment of FAS 115" {“FAS 159™). Under FAS 159, a company may elect to
measure eligible financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for
which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. This
statement 1s effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact that the adoption of FAS 159 will have on its financial statements and cannot estimate the effect of such
adoption at this time.

In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, issued Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable
Advance Payments for Goods or Services To Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities
(“EITF 07-3"), which concluded that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in
the future for use in research and development activities should be deferred and capitalized. The capitalized
amounts should be expensed as the related goods are delivered or services are performed. Such capitalized amounts
should be charged to expense if expectations change such that the goods will not be delivered or services will not be
delivered. The provisions of EITF 07-3 are effective for new contracts entered into during fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2007. The consensus may not be applied to carlier periods and early adoption is not permitted,
The Company does not expect that the adoption of EITF 07-3 will have a material impact on its financial position
and results of operations.

In December 2007, the EITF issued Issue No, 07-1, Accounting for Collaboration Arrangements Related to the
Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property” (“EITF 07-1"), which focuses on how the parties to a
collaborative arrangement should account for costs incurred and revenue generated on sales to third parties, how
sharing payments pursuant to a collaboration agreement should be presented in the income statement and certain
related disclosure questions., EITF 07-1 is effective for all fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. Upon
adoption of ETIF (7-1, the Company expects to adopt a new presentation that will change the classification and
amounts of certain financial statement line items in the Statement of Operations, but will have no impact on
previously reported amounts of net income (loss) or net income (loss) per share.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate and Market Risk

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximize the
income we receive from our investments without significantly increasing risk. Our exposure to market rate risk for
changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. This means that a change in prevailing interest
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rates may cause the principal amount of the investments to fluctuate. By policy, we minimize risk by placing our
investments with high quality debt security issuers, limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer, limit
duration by restricting the term and hold investments to maturity except under rare circumstances. We maintain our
portfolio of cash equivalents and marketable securities in a variety of securities, including commercial paper,
money market funds, auction rate notes and investment grade government and non-government debt securities.
Through our money managers, we maintain risk management control systems to monitor interest rate risk. The risk
management control systems use analytical techniques, including sensitivity analysis. If market interest rates were
to increase by 100 basis points, or 1%, as of December 31, 2007, the fair value of our portfolio would decline by
approximately $908,000.

The table below presents the amounts and related weighted interest rates of our cash equivalents and marketable
securities at December 31:

2007 2006
Average Average
Falr Value Interest Fair Value Interest
Maturity (§ in millions) Rate Maturity {$ in millions) Rate
Cash equivalents, fixed rate .... 0-— 2 months $160.0 4.79% 0 -— 2 months $ 94.1 5.34%

Marketable securities, fixed rate .. 0 — 12 months $308.0 4.75% (0 — 13 months $177.0 491%

As of December 31, 2007, our investment portfolio included approximately $50 million of AAA rated investments
in auction rate securities, which are classified as short-term investments. The underlying assets of these securities
are student loans substantialty backed by the federal government. Subsequent to December 31, 2007, $35 million in
auction rate securities held by the Company in our investment portfolio failed, and there is no assurance that
currently successful auctions on the other auction rate securities in our investment portfolio will continue to
succeed. If the issuers are unable to successfully close future auctions or their credit ratings deteriorate, we may be
required 1o reclassify these securities to long term assets and we will be required to reassess the carrying value of
these investments. As a result, our ability to liquidate our investment and fully recover the carrying value of our
investment in the near term may be limited or not exist. We believe we will be able to liquidate our investments in the
future, and we currently believe these securities are not significantly impaired, primarily due to the government
guarantee of the underlying securities. Based on our ability to access our cash and other short-term investments,
expected operating cash flows and other sources of cash, we do not anticipate the lack of liquidity on these
investments will affect our ability to operate our business for the next twelve months.

We did not hold any derivative instruments as of December 31, 2007, and we have not held derivative instruments in
the past. However, our investment policy does allow us to use derivative financial instruments for the purposes of
hedging foreign currency denominated obligations. Our cash flows are denominated in United States dollars.

Item B. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Financial Statements and notes thereto appear on pages 49 to 72 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures: The Company’s chief executive officer and principal financial
officer reviewed and evaluated the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based on that evaluation, the Company’s
chief executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007 to ensure the information required to be disclosed by the
Company in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting: The Company’s management is responsible ’
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-13(f)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company's management, including the chief executive officer and principal financial officer, the Company
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ") in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. The Company’s
management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
is effective based on these criteria. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007 has been audited by Emst & Young, our independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report, which is included herein,

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: There were no changes in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting during the gquarter ended December 31, 2007 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls: Internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect all errors and all fraud. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal control to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditicns, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion,

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate,

In our opinion, Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financiai reporting as of December 31, 2007, -based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the balance sheets of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the related
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007 of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our report dated February 27, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
February 27, 2008
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Item 9B. Other information

Not applicable.

PART IIL

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item concerning our directors and executive officers is incorporated by reference

from our 2003 Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed not later than 120 days following the close of the fiscal year

ended December 31, 2007,

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required under this item is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2008 Definitive Proxy

Statement. ’

Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required under this item is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2008 Definitive Proxy

Statement.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans as of December 31, 2007

Number of Number of securities
securities to be remaining available for
issued upon exercise Weighted-average future issuance under
of outstanding exercise price of equity compensation plans
options, warrants outstanding options, (excluding securities
and rights warrants and rights reflected in column a)
Plan Category(l) Column a Column b Column ¢
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders . . .. ... ............. 4,437,906 $25.39 3,071,058(2)

(1) We have no equity compensation plans not approved by security holders.

(2) This amount includes 517,393 shares that remain available for purchase under our Employee Stock Purchase
Plan. Under the 2005 Plan, shares available for issuance should be reduced by one and three tenths (1.3} shares
for each share of common stock available for issuance pursuant to a stock purchase award, stock bonus award,
stock unit award or other stock award granted. With this adjustment, the total amount available for future
issuance would be reduced to 2,481,751 shares.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required under this item is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2008 Definitive Proxy
Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required under this item is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2008 Definitive Proxy
Statement.

Consistent with Section 10A (i) (2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as added by Section 202 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are responsible for listing the non-audit services approved by our Audit Committee
to be performed by Ernst & Young LLP, our external auditor. Non-audit services are defined as services other than
those provided in connection with an audit or a review of our financial statements. Ernst & Young LLP did not
provide any non-audit services related to the year ended December 31, 2007.
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PART IV,

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1) Index to Financial Statements

The Financial Statements required by this item are submitted in a separate section beginning on page 44 of this

Report.

Report of Independent Registered l;ublic Accounting Firm

Balance Sheets

Statements of Operations

Statement of Stockholders’ Equity

Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not

applicable.
(3) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.
3.2(20) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.
3.3(3) Centificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
3.4(13) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
4.1(1) Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4.
4.2(1) Specimen Stock Certificate.
10.1(12)* Collaboration Agreement between Bayer Corporation (formerly Miles, Inc.) and the Company

10.1Gi)(12)*
10.1Gi)(12)*
10.2(8)*
10.2(1)(8)*
10.2(ii)(8)*
10.2(ii)(8)*
10.2(iv)(8)*
10.2(v)(17)*

10.2(vi}(4)*

dated April 22, 1994.

Amendment to Collaboration Agreement between Bayer Corporation and the Company dated
April 24, 1996.

Amendment to Collaboration Agreement between Bayer Corporation and the Company dated
February 1, 1999,

Amended and restated Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement dated
May 2, 1995 between the Company and Warner-Lambert Company.

Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement dated July 31, 1997 between the
Company and Warner-Lambert Company.

Amendment to the Amended and Restated Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration
Agreement, dated December 15, 1997, between the Company and Warner-Lambert Company.

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Research, Development and Marketing
Agreement between Warner-Lambert and the Company dated May 2, 1995.

Second Amendment to Research, Development and Marketing Coltaboration Agreement between
Wamner-Lambert and the Company dated July 31, 1997.

Amendment #3 to the Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement between
the Company and Warner-Lambert dated August 6, 2001.

Amendment #3 to the Amended and Restated Research, Development and Marketing
Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert dated August 6, 2001.
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Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.3(5)* Technology Transfer Agreement dated April 24, 1992 between Chiron Corporation and the
Company, as amended in the Chiron Onyx HPV Addendum dated December 2, 1992, in the
Amendment dated February 1, 1994, in the Letter Agreement dated May 20, 1994 and in the Letter
Agreement dated March 29, 1996.

10.4(1)+ Letter Agreement between Dr. Gregory Giotta and the Company dated May 26, 1995,

10.5(1)+ 1996 Equity Incentive Plan.

10.6(1)+ 1996 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan.’

10.7(20)+ 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan,

10.8(1)+ Form of Indemnity Agreement to be signed by executive officers and directors of the Company.

10.9(10)+ Form of Executive Change in Control Severance Benefits Agreement.

10.10(2)* Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert Company dated October 13,

10.10()(4)*
10.10Gi)(7)*
10.11(6)

10.12(9)
10.12(i)(18)

10.13(20)+
10.13(1)(18)+
10.13(ii)(18)+

10.14(11)*

10.15(14)+
10.16(15)+
10.17(15)+

10.18(16)

10.19(19)+
10.20(19)+
10.2121)+

23.1 -
24.1
. 311
31.2
32.1

1999,

Amendment #1 to the Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert dated
August 6, 2001.

Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert
Company dated September 16, 2002,

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement between the Company and the investors dated May 6,
2002. :

Sublease between the Company and Siebel Systems dated August 5, 2004.

First Amendment to Sublease between the Company and Oracle USA Inc., dated November 3,
2006.

2005 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and the Non-
Discretionary Grant Program for Directors.

United States Co-Promotion Agreement by and between the Company and Bayer Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, dated March 6, 2006.

Letter Agreement between Laura A. Brege and the Company, dated May 19, 2006.
Letter Agreement between Gregory W. Schafer and the Company, dated July 7, 2006.

Form of Stock Bonus Award- Grant Notice and Agreement between the Company and certain
award recipients,

Common Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and Azimuth Opportunity Ltd., dated
September 29, 2006.

Retirement Agreement between the Company and Edward F. Kenney, dated April 13, 2007.
2007 Bonus Plan Summary

Bonuses for Fiscal Year 2007 and Base Salaries for Fiscal . Year 2008 for Named Executive
Officers.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney. Reference is made to the signature page.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
Certification of Principat Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

Certifications required by Rule 13a-14{b) or Rule 15d- 14(b)and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

* Confidential treatment has been received for portions of this document.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement,
(1) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (No. 333-3176-LA).
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(2) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2000.
(3) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.
(4) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

(5) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(6) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on June 5, 2002 (No. 333-89850).
(7) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.

(8) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securitics and Exchange
Commission. '

(9) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.
(10) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005.
(11) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006.

{12) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission,

(13) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Registration Statement on Form $-3 (No. 333-134565) filed on May 30, 2006.
(14) Filed as an exhibit to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 12, 2006.

(15) Filed as an exhibit to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 12, 2006.

(16) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2006.

(17) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(18) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
(19) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007.
(20) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2007.

{(21) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2008.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuvant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant
has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Emeryville, County of Alameda, State of California, on the 28th day of February, 2008.

ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By /s/  HoLLings C. RENTON

Hollings C. Renton
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Hollings C. Renton and Gregory W, Schafer or either of them, his or her attorney-in-fact, each with the
power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connections therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his
or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

In accordance with the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates stated.

Signature

fs/ HOLLINGS C. RENTON

Hollings C. Renton

fs/  GREGORY W, SCHAFER

Gregory W. Schafer

s/ _PAUL GODDARD

Paul Goddard, Ph.D.

Antonio Grillo-Lépez, M.D.

fsf MAGNUS LUNDBERG

Magnus Lundberg

/s! CORINNE LYLE

Corinne Lyle

/si WENDELL WIERENGA

Wendell Wierenga, Ph.D.

/s/ THOMAS G. WIGGANS

Thomas G. Wiggans

Title

Chairman of the Board, President and

Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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February 28, 2008

February 28, 2008

February 28, 2008

February 28, 2008

February 28, 2008

February 28, 2008

February 28, 2008




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, and the related statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reascnable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2006 Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. changed its method of
accounting for stock-based compensation in accordance with guidance provided in Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States), Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponscring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
February 27, 2008
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ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2007 2006
(In thousands, except share
and per share amounts)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $161,653 $ 94,413
Short-term marketable securities 307,997 172,545
Receivable from collaboration partner 4,702 9,281
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,304 3,659
Total current assets 480,656 279,898
Long-term marketable securities - 4,445
Property and equipment, net 3,146 1,478
Other assets 281 425
Total assets $ 484,083  § 286,246

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 271§ 297
Payable to collaboration partner - 8,391
Accrued liabilities 2,065 2,927
Accrued clinical trials and related expenses 3,323 8,263
Accrued compensation 5,782 3,321
Total current liabilities 11,441 23,199
Advance from collaboration partner 39,234 40,000
Deferred rent and lease incentives 1171 267

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7 and 13)

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and
outstanding - -

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 55,324,887 and
45,913,370 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,

respectively 56 46
Additional paid-in capital 904,506 661,402
Receivable from option exercises (23) -
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) 356 (177)
Accumulated deficit (472,658)  (438,491)
Total stockholders’ equity 432,237 222,780
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 484,083  § 286,246

See accompanying notes.
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ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Total Revenue:

Operating expenses:

Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business
Research and development

Selling, general and administrative

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Interest income

Other income

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
$ - 8 250 § 1,000

(32,536) 23,915
25,413 30,980 63,120
60,546 50,019 39,671

53,423 104,914 102,791

(53,423) (104,664)  (101,791)
19,256 11,983 6,242
- 375

$(34,167) $ (92,681 $ (95,174)
$ (067 $ (2200 $ (&4
51,177 42,170 36,039




ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Receivable Accumulated

. From Other .
M Ag:;:ll-olgal g:;:f:n Com[glc'gltl::swe Accumulated Stoczgzﬁtliers’
Shares Amount Capital Exercises (Loss) Deficit Equity
{In thousands, except shares and per share amounts)_ -

Balances at December 31, 2004 35,266,667 35 430,966 - (377) (250,636) 179,988
Exercise of stock options 152,093 - 1,177 24 - - 1,153
Issvance of common steck in
connection with follow-on public
offcring, net of issuance costs of $8,953 5,750,000 6 136,228 - - - 136,234
Stock-based compensation, related to
non-employee stock option grants - - 906 - - - 906
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
employee stock purchase plan 12,424 - 257 - - - 257
Exercisc of warrants 29,550 - 266 - - - 266
Comprehensive loss:
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
investments - - - - (390) - (390)
Net loss - - - - - (95,174)  (95,174)
Comprehensive loss _ - {95,564)
Balances at December 31, 2005 41,210,734 41 . 569,800 (24) (767) (345,810) 223,240
Exercise of stock options 347,287 - 2,520 24 - - 2,544
Issuance of common stock in
connection with Azimuth common stock
purchase agreement 4,326,098 5 74,353 - - - 74,358
Stock-based compensation, related 1o
stock option grants - - 13,957 - - - 13,957
Issuance of common stock pursoant o
employee stock purchase plan 22,584 - 602 - - - 602
Vesting of restricted stock awards 6,667 - 170 - - - 170
Comprehensive loss:
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on
investments - - - - 590 - 590
Net loss - - - - - (92,681) (92,681)
Comprehensive loss o {92,091)
Balances at December 31, 2006 45,913,370 46 661,402 - (177 (438,491) 222,780
Exercise of stock options 1,477,661 1 21,909 23) - - 21,887

Issuance of common stock in

connection with Azimuth common stock

purchase agreement 1,246,912 2 30,754 - - - 30,756
Issuance of common stock in

connection with follow-on public

offering 6,600,000 7 174,149 - - - 174,156
Stock-based compensation, related to

stock option grants - - 14,073 - - - 14,073
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

employee stock purchase plan 73,611 - 954 - - - 954
Vesting of restricted stock awards 13,333 - 1,265 - - - 1,265

Comprehensive loss:
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on

investents - - - - 533 - 533
Net loss - - - - - 34,167y (34,167)
Comprehensive loss . {33,634)
Balances at December 31, 2007 55,324,887 $56 $904506 $(23) 5 356 $(472,658) $ 432237

See accompanying notes.
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ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
( In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (34,167) $ (92,681) § (95,174)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating
activities:
Depreciation and amonization 1,030 758 630
Gain on investment - - (375)
Gain on sale of property and equipment - - (7N
Forgiveness of note receivable ' (87) “ -
Stock-based compensation 15,624 14,406 906
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivable from collaboration partner 4,579 (4,931) (3,321)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,710 352 (1,157)
Other assets 144 (190} 34
Accounts payable (26) (284) (457)
Accrued liabilities (862) 1,851 (552)
Accrued clinical trials and related expenses (4,940) 2,696 5,567
Payable to collaboration partner (8,391) (22,432) 19,303
Accrued compensation 2,461 210 2,201
Deferred lease incentives 904 - -
Accrued restructuring - - (195)
Net cash used in operating activities (26,441) {100,245) (72,597
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of marketable securities (499,470  (360,272)  (336,645)
Maturities of marketable securities 368,996 422,488 233,020
Proceeds from sale of Syrxx investment - - 750
Capital expenditures (2,698) 619 {624}
Notes receivable from related parties 152 (228) -
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - - 7
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (133,020) 61,369 {103,492)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Advance from (payment to) collaboration partner (766) 10,000 10,000
Net proceeds from issuances of common stock 227,467 71,225 137,910
Net cash provided by financing activities 226,701 87,225 147,910
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 67,240 48,349 (28,179)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 94,413 46,064 74,243
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 161,653 94413 § 46,064

See accompanying notes.
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ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2007

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company

Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Onyx” or “the Company”) was incorporated in California in February 1992 and
reincorporated in Delaware in May 1996. Onyx is a biopharmaceutical company dedicated to developing innovative
therapies that target the molecular mechanisms that cause cancer. With the Company’s collaborators, the Company
is developing small molecule drugs with the goal of changing the way cancer is treated ™. The Company is applying
its expertise to develop and commercialize oral anticancer therapies designed to prevent cancer cell proliferation
and angiogenesis by inhibiting proteins that signal or support tumor growth. By exploiting the genetic differences
between cancer cells and normal cells, the Company aims to develop and market novel anticancer agents that
minimize damage to healthy tissue.

The Company’s first commercially available product, Nexavar® (sorafenib) tablets, being developed with the
Company’s collaborator Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals, or Bayer, is approved by the United States Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA, for advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer. Nexavar is a novel, orally available
kinase and angiogenesis inhibitor and is one of a new class of anticancer treatments that target signaling pathways
important to the proliferation of cancer cells. In December 2005 Nexavar became the first newly approved drug for
patients with advanced kidney cancer in over a decade. Subsequently, in the fourth quarter of 2007, Nexavar was
approved as the first and is currently the only systemic therapy for the treatment of patients with liver cancer.
Nexavar is now approved in more than 60 countries for the treatment of advanced kidney cancer and in more than 30
countries for the treatment of liver cancer.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the related costs are incurred and the four basic criteria of revenue recognition are met:
(1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services rendered; (3) the fee is fixed
or determinable; and {(4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Determination of criteria (3) and (4) are based on
management’s judgments regarding the nature of the fee charged for products or services delivered and the
coilectibility of those fees.

Contract Revenue from Collaborations. Revenue from nonrefundable, up-front license or technology access
payments under license and collaboration agreements that are not dependent on any future performance by the
Company under the arrangements is recognized when such amounts are received. If the Company has continuing
obligations to perform, such fees are recognized over the period of continuing performance obligation.

Creditable milestone-based payments that Onyx receives from the Company’s collaboration with Bayer are not
recorded as revenue. These amounts are interest-free and will be repayable (o Bayer from a portion of any of the
Company’s future quarterly profits and royalties after deducting certain agreed upon expenditures and are shown in
the caption “Advance from collaboration partner” on the Company’s balance sheet.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

-

Net Expense due to (from) Unconsolidated Joint Business:

Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business relates to the Company’s collaboration with Bayer for the
development and marketing of Nexavar. It consists of the Company’s share of the pretax collaboration profit {loss)
generated from our collaboration agreement with Bayer net of the reimbursement of the Company’s research and
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development and marketing expenses related to Nexavar. Under the collaboration, Bayer recognizes all revenue
from the sale of Nexavar worldwide. The net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business is, in effect, the
net amount due to or received from Bayer to balance the companies’ economics under the Nexavar collaboration.
Under the terms of the coltaboration, the companies share all research and development, marketing and non-United
States sales expenses, excluding Japan. Some of the revenue and expenses recorded to derive the net expense due to
(from) unconsolidated joint business during the period presented are estimates of both parties and are subject to
further adjustment based on each party’s final review should actual results differ materially from these estimates. If
the Company underestimates activity levels associated with the collaboration of Nexavar at a given point in time,
the Company could be required to record significant additional expenses in future periods.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are charged to expense when incutred. The major components of research and
development costs include clinical manufacturing costs, clinical trial expenses, consulting and other third-party
costs, salaries and employee benefits, stock-based compensation expense, supplies and materials and atlocations of
various overhead and occupancy costs. Not all research and development costs are incurred by the Company. A
significant portion of the Company’s research and development expenses, approximately 82% in 2007, 79% in 2006
and 83% in 2005, relates to the Company’s cost sharing arrangement with Bayer and represents the Company’s
share of the research and development costs incurred by Bayer. Such amounts were recorded based on invoices and
other information the Company receives from Bayer. When such invoices have not been received, the Company
must estimate the amounts owed to Bayer based on discussions with Bayer. Prior to 2006, research and development
costs included in the Company’s research and development line item represented our share of research and
development expenses under the collaboration with Bayer. Beginning in 2006, consistent with the terms of the
Company’s collaboration agreement with Bayer, the Company’s share of Bayer’s Nexavar product development
expenses are included in net expense due to (from} unconsolidated joint business. Thus, in 2007 and 2006, only the
Company’s direct research and development expenses are included in the research and development line item in the
accompanying Statement of Operations.

In instances where the Company enters into agreements with third parties for clinical trials and other consulting
activities, costs are expensed upon the earlier of when non-refundable amounts are due or as services are performed.
Amounts due under such arrangements may be either fixed fee or fee for service and may include upfront payments,
monthly payments, and payments upon the completion of milestones or receipt of deliverables.

The Company’s cost accruals for clinical trials are based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended
pursuant to contracts with numerous clinical trial sites cooperative groups and clinical research organizations. In the
normal course of business the Company contracts with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the
on-going development of potential products. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and
variation from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows. Payments under the contracts depend
on factors such as the achievement of certain events, the successful enrollment of patients, and the completion of
portions of the clinical trial or similar conditions. The objective of the Company’s accrual policy is to match the
recording of expenses in our financial statements to the actual services received and efforts expended. As such,
expense accruals related to clinical trials are récognized based on the Company’s estimate of the degree of
completion of the event or events specified in the specific clinical study or trial contract. The Company monitors
service provider activities to the extent possible; however, if the Company underestimates activity levels associated
with various studies at a given point in time, the Company could be required to record significant research and
development expenses in future periods. '

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity from the date of purchase of three months or
less to be cash equivalents. All other liquid investments are classified as marketable securities. These instruments
consist primarily of corporate debt securities, corporate commercial paper, debt securities of United States
government agencies, auction rate notes and money market funds. Concentration of risk is limited by diversifying
investments among a variety of industries and issuers. -
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Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase. At December 31, 2007
and 2006, all securities were designated as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value
based on quoted market prices, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). The amortized cost of securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is included in interest income. The cost of securities sold or
the amount reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings is based on the specific
identification method. The estimated fair values have been determined by the Company using available market
information. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary are included in the
Statements of Operations. There were no realized gains or losses in each of the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005. Interest and dividends on securities classified as available-for-sale are included in interest income.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated on the basis of cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally two to five years. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets, generally five to six
years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assefs

Impairment of long-lived assets is measured or assessed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of
undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. In the event that such
cash flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover the carrying amount of the assets, the assets are written down
to their estimated fair values. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reportéd at the lower of carrying amount or fair
value less costs to sell. There were no write-downs in 2007, 2006 and 2005,

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or FAS, No, 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment,” (“FAS 123(R)"), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all stock-based payments made to employees and directors including employee stock option awards and
employee stock purchases made under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, based on estimated fair value.
The-Company previously applied the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion, or APB, No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25™) and related Interpretations and provided the required pro
forma disclosures under FAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” or FAS 123. .

The Company adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method beginning January 1, 2006.
Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense
for awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 as if the fair value method required for pro forma
disclosure under FAS 123 were in effect for expense recognition purposes adjusted for estimated forfeitures. For
stock-based awards granted after January 1, 2006, the Company recognized compensation expense based on the
estimated grant date fair value method required under FAS 123(R}. The compensation expense for these awards was
recognized using a straight-line amortization method. The net loss for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
includes stock-based compensation expense of $14.1 million, or $0.28 per share, and $14.0 million, or $0.33 per
share, respectively, for the adoption of FAS 123(R). As of December 31, 2007, the total unrecorded stock-based
compensation balance for unvested shares, net of expected forfeitures, was $26.9 million, which is expected to be
amortized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years,

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.”
The Company has elected to adopt the alternative transition method provided in the FASB Staff Position for
calculating the tax effects, if any, of stock-based compensation expense pursuant to FAS 123(R). The alternative
transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital
pool {APIC pool) related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, and to determine the subsequent
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impact to the APIC pool and the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows of the tax effects of employee
stock-based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of FAS 123(R).

All stock option awards to non-employees are accounted for at the fair value of the consideration received or the fair
value of the equity instrument issued, as calculated using the Black-Scholes model, in accordance with FAS 123 and
Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other
Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” The option arrangements are
subject to periodic remeasurement over their vesting terms. The Company recorded compensation expense related
to option grants to non-employees of $1.5 million, $365,000 and $906,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

The pro forma information regarding net loss and loss per share prepared in accordance with FAS 123, as amended,
has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options and employee stock purchase
plan under the fair value method prescribed by FAS 123 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The fair value of
options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-valuation model with the following
weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended

__ w05
Risk-free INETESt FAIE . . . .t v ittt it s ettt e i et s e 3.80%
Expected life . ... ... . e e 3.8 years
Expected volatility . ... ... ... . . e e 0.74
Expected dividends . . . .. .. ... . . e e None
Weighted average fair value of options at date of grant ........................ $ 1355

For purposes of pro forma disclosures pursuant to FAS 123, the estimated fair value of employee stock options is
amortized to expense over the options’ vesting period. The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and loss
per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123 to stock-based employee
compensation:

Year Ended December 31,

2005

(In thousands, except
per share amounts)

Netloss —asreported .. ... ..o vttt $ (95,174)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation determined under the fair

value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects. .. ... ..... {13,333)
Pro forma net 1088, . . o oo it e e $(108,507)
Loss per share:

Basic and diluted net loss per share —asreported . . ................ $ (2o

Basic and diluted net loss per share —proforma................... $ (30D

No options were granted at other than fair value for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share are presented in conformity with FAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.” Basic and
diluted net loss per share have been computed using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
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outstanding during each period. The following potentially dilutive outstanding securities were not considered in the
computation of diluted net loss per share because such securities would be antidilutive:
R December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Stock OPONS . . .o\t e 4438 5335 3,806

SOCK WAITANIS . . . . i it it e e e e i 9 9 9
Restricted stock awards ... ..o vt i e e e 180 33 _

4,627 5377 3815

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and other comprehensive loss. Other comprehensive loss includes
certain changes in stockholders’ equity that are excluded from net loss. Other comprehensive loss for all periods
presented is comprised of unrealized holding gains and losses on the Company’s available-for-sale securities, which
were reported separately in stockholders’ equity.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Research and Development Collaborators

Financial instruments that potentially subject Onyx to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash
equivalents and marketable securities. Onyx invests cash that is not required for immediate. operating needs
principally in money market funds and corporate securities.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s investment portfolio included approximately $50 million of AAA rated
investments in auction rate securities, which are classified as short-term investments. The underlying assets of these
securities are student loans substantially backed by_' the federal government. Subsequent to December 31, 2007,
$35 million of these securities in the Company’s investment portfolio have experienced failures in the auction
process, and there is no assurance that currently successful auctions on the other auction rate securities in the
Company’s investment portfolio will continue to succeed. If the issuers are unable to successfully close future
auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, the Company may, in the future, be required to reclassify these
securities to long term assets and the Company will be required to assess the carrying value of these investments. As
aresult, the Company’s ability to liquidate its investment and fully recover the carrying value of its investment in the
near term may be limited or not exist.

Onyx’s research and development collaborators are currently concentrated in the United States and Germany.

Income Taxes

" The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes as required by FAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

[y

Segment Reporting

The Company operates in only one segment — the discovery and development of novel cancer therapies.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” (“FAS 157”). FAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under United States generally accepted accounting
principles and expands disclosure about fair valve measurements. FAS 157 applies under other accounting
standards that require or permit fair value measurements. Accordingly, FAS 157 does not require any new fair
value measurement. FAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after Novem-
ber 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the

58




adoption of FAS 157 will have on its financial statements and cannot estimate the effect of such adoption at this
time.

In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — including an amendment of FAS 115" (“FAS 159”), Under FAS 159, a company may elect to
measure eligible financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for
which the fair value option has been elected are reported in earnings at cach subsequent reporting date. This
statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact that the adoption of FAS 159 will have on its financial statements and cannot estimate the effect of such
adoption at this time.

In June 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, ratificd Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable
Advance Payments for Goods or Services To Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities
(“EITF 07-3”), which concluded that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in
the future for use in research and development activities should be deferred and capitalized. The capitalized
amounts should be expensed as the related goods are delivered or services are performed. Such capitalized amounts
should be charged to expense if expectations change such that the goods will not be delivered or services will not be
delivered. The provisions of EITF 07-3 are effective for new contracts entered into during fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2007. The consensus may not be applied to earlier periods and early adoption is not permitted.
The Company does not expect that the adoption of EITF 07-3 will have a material impact on its financial position
and results of operations.

In December 2007, the EITF ratified Issue No. 07-1, Accounting for Collaboration Arrangements Related to the
Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property” (“EITF 07-1"), which focuses on how the parties to a
collaborative arrangement should account for costs incurred and revenue generated on sales to third parties, how
sharing payments pursuant to a collaboration agreement should be presented in the income statement and certain
related disclosure questions. EITF 07-1 is effective for all fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. Upon
adoption of ETIF 07-1, the Company expects to adopt a new presentation that will change the classification and
amounts of certain financial statement line items in the Statement of Operations, but will have no impact on
previously reported amounts of net income (loss) or net income (loss) per share.

Note 2. Collaboration Agreements
Bayer Pharmaceuticals Corporation

Effective February 1994, the Company established a collaboration agreement with Bayer to discover, develop and
market compounds that inhibit the function, or modulate the activity, of the RAS signaling pathway to treat cancer
and other diseases. Together with Bayer, the Company concluded collaborative research under this agreement in
1999, and based on this research, a product development candidate, Nexavar, was identified. Bayer paid all the costs
of research and preclinical development of Nexavar until the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, was
filed in May 2000. Under the Company’s agreement with Bayer, the Company is currently funding 50% of mutually
agreed development costs worldwide, excluding Japan. Bayer is funding 100% of development costs in Japan and
will pay the Company a royalty on any sales in Japan. At any time during product development, either company may
terminate its participation in development costs, in which case the terminating party would retain rights to the
product on a royalty-bearing basis. If the Company does not continue to bear 50% of product development costs,
Bayer would retain exclusive, worldwide rights to this product candidate and would pay royalties to the Company
based on net sales.

In March 2006, the Company and Bayer entered into a Co-Promotion Agreement to co-promote Nexavar in the
United States. This agreement generally supersedes those provisions of the original 1994 Collaboration Agreement
that relate to the co-promotion of Nexavar in the United States between Bayer and the Company. Outside of the
United States, the terms of the Collaboration Agreement continue to govern. Under the terms of the Co-Promotion
Agreement and consistent with the Collaboration Agreement, the Company will share equally in the profits or
losses of Nexavar, if any, in the United States. If for any reason the Company does not continue to co-promote in the
United States, but continue to co-fund development worldwide (excluding Japan), Bayer would first receive a
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portion of the product revenues to repay Bayer for its commercialization infrastructure, before determining the
Company'’s share of profits and losses in the United States.

The Company’s agreement with Bayer calls for creditable milestone-based payments. The Company received
$5.0 million in 2002 upon initiation of Phase 2 clinical studies and $15.0 million in 2003 based upon the initiation of
a Phase 3 study. Based on the July 2005 New Drug Application, or NDA, filing, the Company received the third
milestone payment of $10.0 million in 2005. In January 2006, the Company received the final $10.0 million
milestone payment as a result of the United States approval of Nexavar in December 2005. These payments are
shown in the caption “Advance from collaboration partner” on the Company’s balance sheet. These advances are
repayable to Bayer from a portion of the Company's share of any quarterly collaboration profits and royalties after
deducting certain contractually agreed upon expenditures. As of December 31, 2007, $39.2 million of the advance
repayable to Bayer is outstanding.

Warner-Lambert Company

In May 1995, the Company entered into a research and development collaboration agreement with Warner-
Lambert, now a subsidiary of Pfizer, Inc., to discover and commercialize small molecule drugs that restore control
of, or otherwise intervene in, the misregulated cell cycle in tumor cells. Under this agreement, the Company
developed screening tests, or assays, for jointly selected targets and transferred these assays to Warner-Lambert for
screening of their compound library to identify active compounds. The discovery research term under the agreement
ended in August 2001, Warner-Lambert is responsible for subsequent medicinal chemistry and preclinical
investigations on the active compounds. In addition, Warner-Lambert is obligated to conduct and fund all clinical
development, make regulatory filings and manufacture for sale any approved collaboration compounds. The
Company will receive milestone payments on clinical development and registration of any resulting products and is
entitled to receive royalties on worldwide sales of the products. Warner-Lambert has identified a small molecule
lead compound, PD 332991, an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase 4, and began clinical testing with this drug
candidate in 2004, As a result of this, to date the Company received a $500,000 milestone payment from Warner-
Lambert,

Note 3. Net Expense due to (from) Unconsolidated Joint Business

Nexavar is currently marketed and sold primarily in the United States and the European Union for the treatment of
advanced kidney cancer and liver cancer. Nexavar also has regulatory applications pending in other territories
internationally. Onyx co-promotes Nexavar in the United States with Bayer Healthcare Pharmaceuticals Corpo-
ration Inc., (Bayer) under collaboration and co-promotion agreements. In March 2006, Onyx and Bayer entered into
a Co-Promotion Agreement to co-promote Nexavar in the United States. This agreement amends the original 1994
Collaboration Agreement and supersedes the provisions of that agreement that relate to the co-promotion of
Nexavar in the United States. Outside of the United States, the terms of the Collaboration Agreement continue to
govern. Under the terms of the Co-Promotion Agreement and consistent with the Collaboration Agreement, Onyx
and Bayer will share equally in the profits or losses of Nexavar, if any, in the United States, subject only to the
Company’s continued co-funding of the development costs of Nexavar worldwide, outside of Japan, and the
Company’s continued co-promotion of Nexavar in the United States, The collaboration was created through a
contractual arrangement, not through a joint venture or other legal entity.

Outside of the United States, excluding Japan, Bayer incurs all of the sales and marketing expenditures, and Onyx,
reimburses Bayer for half of those expenditures. In addition, upon approval of Nexavar in countries other than the
United States, excluding Japan, Onyx will reimburse Bayer a fixed percentage of net sales for their marketing
infrastructure. Research and development expenditures on a worldwide basis, excluding Japan, are equally shared
by both companies regardless of whether Onyx or Bayer incurs the expense. In Japan, Bayer is responsible for all
development and marketing costs, and Onyx will receive a royalty on any net sales of Nexavar.

In the United States, Bayer provides all product distribution and all marketing support services for Nexavar,
including managed care, customer service, order entry and billing. Bayer is compensated for distribution expenses
based on a fixed percent of gross sales of Nexavar in the United States. Bayer is reimbursed for half of its expenses
for marketing services provided by Bayer for the sale of Nexavar in the United States. The parties share equally in
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any other out-of-pocket marketing expenses {other than expenses for sales force and medical science liaisons) that
Onyx and Bayer incur in connection with the marketing and promotion of Nexavar in the United States. Bayer
manufactures all Nexavar sold in the United States and is reimbursed at an agreed transfer price per unit for the cost
of goods sold.

In the United States, Onyx contributes half of the overall number of sales force personnel required to market and
promote Nexavar and haif of the medical science liaisons to support Nexavar. Onyx and Bayer each bears its own
sales force and medical science liaison expenses. These expenses are not included in the calculation of the profits or
losses of the collaboration. :

Net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business consists of Onyx’s share of the pretax collaboration loss
generated from its collaboration with Bayer net of the reimbursement of Onyx's marketing and research and
development costs related to Nexavar. Under the collaboration, Bayer recognizes all revenue from the sale of
Nexavar worldwide. Collaboration loss is derived by calculating sales of Nexavar to third-party customers and
deducting the cost of goods sold, distribution costs, marketing costs (including without limitation, advertising and
education expenses, selling and promotion expenses, marketing personnel expenses, and Bayer marketing services
expenses), Phase 4 clinical trial costs, altocable overhead costs and research and development costs. As noted
above, United States sales force and medical science liaison expenditures incurred by both companies are borne by
each company separately and are not included in the calculation. Some of the revenue and expenses recorded to
derive the net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business during the period presented are estimates of both
parties and are subject to further adjustment based on each party’s final review should actual results differ materially
from these estimates.

Net expense due from unconsolidated joint business was $32.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 and
net expense due to unconsolidated joint business was $23.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
(in thousands)
Onyx’s share of collaboration loss $ 4.665 $ 59,595
Reimbursement of Onyx’s direct development and marketing expenses 37,201 35,680
Onyx’s net expense due to (from) unconsolidated joint business $ (32,536) § 23915

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Onyx had invested $302.3 million and $219.0 million, respectively, in the
development of Nexavar, representing the Company’s share of the costs incurred to date under the collaboration.

Note 4. Marketable Securities

Investments that are subject to concentration of credit risk are marketable securities. To mitigate this risk, the
Company invests in marketable debt securities, primarily United States government securities, agency bonds and
corporate bonds and notes, with investment grade ratings. The Company limits the amount of investment exposure
as to institution, maturity, and investment type. The weighted average maturity of the Company’s marketable
securities as of December 31, 2007 was four months. There were no realized gains (losses) on these sales for each of
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Available-for-sale marketable securities consisted of the following at December 31:

2007

Adjusted Unrealized  Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(In thousands)

Agency bond investments:

Maturing within 1 year 3 143,896 $354 $(13) $ 144,237
Total agency bond investments 143,896 354 (13) 144,237
Corporate debt investments: :

Maturing within | year 163,745 16 (N 163,760
Total corporate investments ' 163,745 16 1) 163,760
Total available-for-sale marketable securities $ 307,641 $370 (14 $ 307,997

2006
Adjusted Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(In thousands)
U.S. government investments; . .
Maturing within 1 year $ 15,195 3- 3 57 % 15,138

Maturing between | and 2 years - - - -
Total government investments 15,195 - 57) 15,138
Agency bond investments:

Maturing within 1 year 41,663 1 (22) 41,642

Maturing between | and 2 years 9,996 - (8) 9,988
Total agency bond investments 51.,659 1 30 51,630
Corporate debt investments:

Maturing within 1 year 105,853 1 an 105,777

Maturing between | and 2 years 4,460 - (15) 4,445
Total corporate investments ' 110,313 n! {92) 110,222
Total available-for-sale marketable securities $ 177,167 $2 $(179)  $176,990

As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s investment portfolio included approximately $50 million of AAA rated
investments in auction rate securities, which are classified as short-term investments. The underlying assets of these
securities are student loans substantially backed by the federal government. Subsequent to December 31, 2007,
$35 million of these securities in the Company’s investment portfolio have experienced failure in the auction
process and, there is no assurance that currently successful auctions on the other auction rate securities in the
Company’s investment portfolio will continue to succeed. If the issuers are unable to successfully close future
auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, the Company may in the future be required to reclassify these securities
to long term assets and the Company will be required to assess the carrying value of these investments. As a result
the Company’s ability to liquidate its investment and fully recover the carrying value of its investment in the near
term may be limited or not exist,

The unrealized gains and losses in 2007 and 2006 on the Company’s investments in United States government
investments, agency bond investments and corporate debt instruments were caused by interest rate increases. The
contractual terms of these investments do not permit the issuer to settle the securities at a price less than the
amortized cost of the investment. It is the Company’s intention and within its ability to hold these securities in an
unrealized loss position for a period of time sufficient to allow for an anticipated recovery of fair value up to (or
greater than) the cost of the securities and therefore the impairments noted are not other-than-temnporary. In 2007
there were no marketable securities with maturity dates greater than twelve months from the balance sheet date. in
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2006, the Company classified $4.4 million of marketable securitics balances as long-term assets because these
securities carried maturity dates greater than twelve months from the balance sheet date.

Note 5. Property and Equipment

" Property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,
2007 2006

) (In thousands}
Computers, machinery and eqUipment . . . ... . oot iiiie i $3,684 §$2279
Furniture and fiXTUIES . . . o oot e e 620 446
Leasehold IMProvements. . .. .. ... vu ittt ittt e e 1,868 734
ConStrUCTION N PIOZIESS . .« v oottt ittt e s et oanaean s - 15
, 6,172 3,474
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . ...... ... ... . o oo o (3,026)  (1,996)

$3,146 § 1,478

Depreciation expense was $1.0 million, $758,000 and $630,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
20035, respectively.

Note 6. Long-Term Obligations

In January 2006, the Company received the fourth and final development payment from Bayer for $10.0 million
under its collaboration agreement in connection with the approval of Nexavar by the Federal Drug Administration
(FDA). In July 2005, the Company received a $10.0 million development payment from Bayer as a result of the
NDA filing for Nexavar. In December 2003, the Company received a $15.0 million development payment from
Bayer for the initiation of Phase 3 clinical trials of Nexavar. In August 2002, the Company received a $5.0 million
development payment from Bayer for the initiation of Phase 2 clinical trials of Nexavar. Pursuant to its collab-
oration agreement, these amounts are repayable to Bayer from a portion of the Company’s share of any quarterly
collaboration profits and royalties after deducting certain contractually agreed upon expenditures. These devel-
opment payments contain no provision for interest. As of December 31, 2007, the Company had repaid $766,000 to
Bayer. The balances as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 of $39.2 million and $40 million, respectively, are included
in the caption “Advance from collaboration partner” in the accompanying balance sheets.

Note 7. Facility Leases

In 2004, the Company entered into an operating lease for 23,006 square feet of office space in Emeryville,
California, which serves as the Company’s corporate headquarters.

In 2006, the Company amended its existing operating lease to occupy an additional 14,000 square feet of office
space in addition to the 23,000 square feet already occupied in Emeryville, California. The lease expires on
March 31, 2013. The lease provides for fixed increases in minimum annual rental payments, as well as rent free
periods. The total amount of rental payments due over the lease term is being charged to rent expense on the
straight-line method over the term of the lease. The difference between rent expense recorded and the amount paid is
credited or charged to “deferred rent and lease incentives,” which is included in the accompanying balance sheets.

The Company also has a lease for 9,000 square feet of space in a secondary facility in Richmond, California. The
Company determined that it no longer required this facility due to a reduction in force in December 2001. The lease
for this facility expires in September 2010 with renewal options at the end of the lease for two subsequent five-year
terms. In September 2002, the Company entered into a sublease agreement for this space through September 2010.
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Minimum annual rental commitments, net of sublease income, under all operating leases at December 31, 2007 are
as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

2008, . e e e, 1,020
2000 e e e e e e e e e e e 1,046
2 1 L 1,184
7,11 PN 1,194
15 0 1,230
B3T3 (7 =) _ 316

$5.990

Rent expense, net of sublease income and restructuring, for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
approximately $1.1 million, $587,000 and $490,000, respectively. Sublease income was $88,000, $62,000 and
$102,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively.

Note 8. Related Party Transactions

The Company had a loan with a former employee of which approximately $228,000 was outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 2006. This loan bore interest at 4.82% per annum. In 2007, $87,000 of principal and interest was forgiven
and the remaining loan balance of $152,000 was repaid in October 2007 in accordance with the terms of the loan
agreement.

Note 9, 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) Pian that covers substantially all of its employees. Under the 401(k) Pian, eligible
employees may contribute up to $15,500 of their eligible compensation, subject to certain Internal Revenue Service
restrictions. Historically, the Company did not match employee contributions in the 401({k) Plan. Beginning in fiscal
year 2007, Onyx provided a discretionary company match to employee contributions of $0.50 per dollar contrib-
uted, up to a maximum match of $3,000 in any calendar year. In 2007, the Company incurred a total expense of
$373,000 related to 401(k) contribution matching. For fiscal year 2008 the maximum match was increased to
$3,500 in any calendar year.

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Options and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has one stock option plan from which it is able to grant new awards, the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan
(the “2005 Plan™). Prior to adoption of the 2005 Plan, the Company had two stock option plans, the 1996 Equity
Incentive Plan and the 1996 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan. Following is a brief description of the
prior plans:

1) The 1996 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan™), which amended and restated the 1992 Incentive
Stock Plan in March 1996. The Company’s Board of Directors reserved 1,725,000 shares of common
stock for tssuance under the 1996 Plan. At the Company’s annual meetings of stockholders in
subsequent years, stockholders approved reserving an additional 4,100,000 shares of common stock for
issuance under the 1996 Plan. The 1996 Plan provides for grants to employees of either nonqualified
or incentive options and provides for the grant to consultants of the Company of nonqualified options.

2) The 1996 Non-Employee Directors” Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’ Plan™) which was approved in
March 1996 and reserved 175,000 shares for issuance to provide for the automatic grant of
nonqualified options to purchase shares of common stock to non-employee Directors of the Company.
At the Company’s annual meetings of stockholders in subsequent years, stockholders approved
reserving an additional 250,000 shares of common stock for issnance under the Directors’ Plan.
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The 2005 Equity Incentive Plan was approved at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders to supersede and
replace both the 1996 Plan and the Directors’ Plan and reserved 7,560,045 shares of common stock for issuance
under the Plan, consisting of (a) the number of shares remaining available for grant under the Incentive Plan and the
Directors’ Plan, including shares subject to outstanding stock awards under those plans, and (b) an additional
3,990,000 shares. Any shares subject to outstanding stock awards under the 1996 Plan and the Directors’ Plan that
expire or terminate for any reason prior to exercise or settlement are added to the share reserve under the 2005 Plan.
All outstanding stock awards granted under the two prior plans remain subject to the terms of those plans. At the
May 2007 annual shareholders meeting an additional 1,600,000 shares were added to the 2005 Equity Incentive
Plan,

In March 1996, the Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). The number of shares
available for issuance over the term of the ESPP was limited to 400,000 shares. At the May 2007 annual
shareholders meeting an additional 500,000 shares were added to the ESPP for a total of 900,000 shares available
for issuance over the term of the ESPP. The ESPP is designed to allow eligible employees of the Company to
purchase shares of common stock through periodic payroll deductions. The price of common stock purchased under
the ESPP will be equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock on the commencement date
of each offering period or the specified purchase date. Purchases of common stock shares made under the ESPP
were 73,611 shares in 2007, 22,584 shares in 2006 and 12,424 shares in 2005. Since inception, a total of
399,788 shares have been issued under the ESPP, leaving a total of 517,393 shares available for issuance.

In December 2007, stock options were exercised that were not settled prior to December,31, 2007. The Company
recorded a receivable from stock option exercises of $23,000 as of December 31, 2007 related to these stock oplions.
This is included in the caption “Receivable from stock option exercises” in the accompanying balance sheet and
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity as of December 31, 2007. There were no such amounts as of December 31, 2006.

Preferred Stock

The Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Company’s Board of Directors
has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one
or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof, including dividend rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms and the number of
shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, without further vote or action by the stockholders. As
of December 31, 2007, the Company had 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized at $0.001 par value, and no
shares were issued or outstanding. ‘

Warrants

A total of 743,229 warrants for the purchase of common stock were issued in connection with a private placement
financing in May 2002. The exercise price of these warrants is $9.59 per share. The $4.4 million fair value of the
warrants was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following
assumptions: a weighted-average risk-free interest rate of 4.29%, a contractual life of seven years, a volatility of
0.94 and no dividend yield, and accounted for as a stock issuance cost. Any of the outstanding warrants may be
exercised by applying the value of a portion of the warrant, which is equal to the number of shares issuable under the
warrant being exercised multiplied by the fair market value of the security receivable upon the exercise of the
warrant, less the per share price, in lieu of payment of the exercise price per share. In 2004, the Company issued
553,835 shares of the Company’s common stock upon the exercise of 703,689 warrants, on both a cash and net
exercise basis. The Company received approximately $355,000 in net cash proceeds from the exercise of warrants
in 2004. In 2005, the Company issued 29,550 shares of the Company’s commeon stock upon the exercise of 30,277
warrants, on both a cash and net exercise basis. The Company received approximately $266,000 in net cash
proceeds from the exercise of warrants in 2005. There were no warrants issued nor exercised in 2006 and 2007.

As of December 31, 2007 there are outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 9,263 shares of the Company’s
common stock, which will expire in May 2009, unless earlier exercised. The Company has reserved 9,263 common
shares for future issuance for these warrants.
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Note 11. Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or FAS, No. 123(R),
“Share-Based Payment”, (“FAS 123(R)”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all stock-based payments made to employees and directors including employee stock option awards and
employee stock purchases made under the Empltoyee Stock Purchase Plan, or ESPP, based on estimated fair value.
The Company previously applied the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion, or APB, No. 285,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25") and related Interpretations and provided the required pro
forma disclosures under FAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, or FAS 123. '

All stock option awards to non-employees are accounted for at the fair value of the consideration received or the fair
value of the equity instrument issued, as calculated using the Black-Scholes model, in accordance with FAS 123(R)
and Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other
Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Cenjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” The option arrangements are
subject to periodic remeasurement over their vesting terms.

Pro forma Information for Periods prior to the Adoption of FAS 123(R)

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company elected to follow APB 235 to account for employee stock options
and complied with the disclosure provisions of FAS 123 and FAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-
Transition and Disclosure.,” No employee stock-based compensation expense was reflected in the Company’s
results of operations for-the year ended December 31, 2005, for employee stock option awards as ail options were
granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The
Company’'s ESPP was deemed non-compensatory under the provisions of APB 25. Previously reported amounts
have not been restated.

The pro forma information for the year ended December 31, 2005 was as follows:
Year Ended December 31, 2005
(In thousands except per share data)
Net loss, as reported $ (95,174

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation determined
under the fair value based method for all awards, net of related

tax effects (13,333)
Net loss-pro forma $ (108,507)
Loss per share:

Basic and diluted net loss per share-as reported $  (2.64)
Basic and diluted net loss per share-pro forma § (@3.0D

Impact of the Adaeption of FAS 123(R)

The Company adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method beginning January 1, 2006.
Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense
for awards granted prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, as if the fair value method required for pro forma
disclosure under FAS 123 were in effect for expense recognition purposes adjusted for estimated forfeitures. For
these awards, the Company has continued to recognize compensation expense using the accelerated amortization
method under FASB Interpretation No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock
Option or Award Plans.” For stock-based awards granted after January 1, 2006, the Company recognized
compensation expense based on the estimated grant date fair value method required under FAS 123(R). The
compensation expense for these awards was recognized using a straight-line amortization method. As FAS 123(R)
requires that stock-based compensation expense be based on awards that are ultimately expected to vest, estimated
stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, has been reduced for estimated
forfettures. Compensation expense for stock bonus awards is based on the market price of our stock on the date of
grant. In the Company’s pro forma information required under FAS 123 for periods prior to January 1, 2006, the
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Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. FAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of
grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The impact on
the results of operations of recording stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands except per share dala)
Research and development $ 2,897 $ 2545
Selling, general and administrative 11,230 11,496
Total share-based compensation expense £ 14,127 $ 14,041
Impact on basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.28) $ (033

All stock option awards to non-employees are accounted for at the fair value of the consideration received or the fair
value of the equity instrument issued, as calculated using the Black-Scholes model, in accordance with FAS 123 and
Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other
Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” The option arrangements are
subject to periodic remeasurement over their vesting terms. The Company recorded compensation expense related
to option grants to non-employees of $1.5 million, $365,000 and $906,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, the total unrecorded stock-based compensation balance for unvested stock options
shares, net of expected forfeitures, was $26.9 million which is expected to be amortized over a weighted-average
pericd of 2.3 years. As of December 31, 2007, the total unrecorded stock-based compensation balance for unvested
stock bonus awards, net of expected forfeitures, was $3.3 million, which is expected to be amortized over a
weighted-average period of 2.1 years. Cash received during the year ended December 31, 2007, for stock options
exercised under all stock-based compensation arrangements was $21.9 million.

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the total fair value of stock bonus awards vested was $281,000
and $140,000, respectively, based on a weighted average grant date fair value of $21.04.
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Valuation Assumptions

As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of stock-based awards for employee stock option awards,
stock bonus awards and employee stock purchases made under the ESPP was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The following weighted average assumptions were used:

Stock Option Plans:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividends

Weighted average option fair value
Stock bonus awards:

Expected life

Expected dividends

Weighted average fair value per share

ESPP:

Risk-free interest rate

Expected life

Expected volatility

Expected dividends

Weighted average fair value per share

Year Ended December 31
2007 2006 2005

4.66% 4.68% 3.80%
43 years 4.2 years 3.8 years
64% 59% 4%
None None None

$15.41 $11.00 $13.55

3 years 3 years -
None None -
$24.84 $21.04 -

5.11% 4.33% 3.14%
6 months 6 months 6 months

57% 59% T4%
None None None

$3.78 $8.65 $10.79

The Black-Scholes fair value model requires the use of highly subjective and complex assumptions, including the
option’s expected life and the price volatility of the undertying stock. Beginning January |, 2006, the expected stock
price volatility assumption was determined using a combination of historical and implied volatility for our stock.
Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we used the historical volatility in deriving our expected volatility assumption,
We have determined that the combined method of determining volatility is more reflective of market conditions and
a better indicator of expected volatility than historical volatility. We consider several factors in estimating the
expected life of our options granted, including the expected lives used be a peer group of companies and the
historical option exercise behavior of our employees, which we believe are representative of future behavior.
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Stock-Based Payment Award Activity

The following table surnmarizes stock option and award activity under all option plans for the years ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Employee stock options:
Balance at December 31, 2004
Shares authorized

Granted

Exercised

Expired/forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2005
Granted

Exercised

Expired

Forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2006
Shares authorized

Granted

Exercised

Expired

Forfeited

Balance at December 31, 2007

Stock bonus awards:

Balance at December 31, 2005
Granted

Vested

Cancelled

Balance at December 31i, 2006

Granted
Vested
Cancelled

Balance at December 31, 2007
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Shares Number of Weighted
Available for Shares, Average Exercise
Grant Outstanding rice
1,282,193 2,296,442 $17.99
3,990,000 - -
(1,718,000) 1,718,000 $24.52
- (152,093) $7.73
56,268 (56,268) $29.85
3,610,461 3,806,081 $21.17
(1,987,950) 1,987,950 $21.60
- (347,287) $ 7.26
19,058 (19,058) $37.83
93,209 (93,209 $28.73
1,734,778 5,334,477 $22.05
1,600,000 - -
(1,167,701) 1,167,701 $28.55
- (1,477,661) $14.83
430,153 (430,153) $25.88
156,458 (156,458) $33.47
2,753,688 4,437 906 $25.39
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
40,000 $ 21.04
(6,667) $ 21.04
33,333 $ 21.04
166,747 $ 24.84
(13,333) $ 21.04
(6,724) $ 24.84
180,023 $ 24.42

b
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The options outstanding and exercisable for stock-based payment awards as of December 31, 2007 were in the
following exercise price ranges:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted
Contractual Life Average
Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding { In years) Exercise Price Exercisable Price
$4.20 - $17.43 946,215 7.5 31400 383,768 § 1247
$17.46- $24.84 1,318,824 85 $ 2290 412,545 § 22.18
$25.25 - $28.62 1,223917 8.0 $ 27.34 522,900 $ 27.08
$28.75- $44.12 894,000 7.4 3 36.91 562,947 § 36.85
$44.54 - $55.06 54,950 9.8 $ 4999 883 5 48.12
Total 4,437,906 1.9 $ 2539 1,883,043 § 2596

As of December 31, 2006, 2,276,129 shares outstanding options were exercisable, at a weighted average price of
$20.37. As of December 31, 2005, 1,597,054 shares outstanding options were exercisable, at a weighted average
price of $14.74.

As of December 31, 2007, weighted average contractual life remaining for exercisable shares is 7.0 years. The total
number of in-the-money awards exercisable as of December 31, 2007 was 1,883,043 shares. The aggregate intrinsic
values of awards exercised were $27.9 million and $5.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic values of in-the-money outstanding and exercisable awards were $134.2 million
and $55.9 million, respectively as of December 31, 2007. The aggregate intrinsic value of options represents the total
pretax intrinsic value, based on the Company’s closing stock price of $55.62 at December 31, 2007, which would have
been received by award holders had all award holders exercised their awards that were in-the-money as of that date.

Note 12. Income Taxes
There is no provision for income taxes, because the Company has incurred operating losses since inception.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006

(In thousands)
Net operating loss carryforwards . .. ... ....... ... .. ... ........ .. $154928  $ 149,955
Tax credit carryforwards . . . .. ... ... ... e 39,158 33,046
Capitalized research and development . ............ ... .. ......... 2415 3,216
Deferred revenue . ....... ... .0ttt e 15,628 15,934
ACCIUIEH BXPENSES - - o v vttt ot e e e 992 —_
SIOCK OPLIONS . . . .. it i e e 6,511 —
Property and equipment . ... ... .. ... ... e 343 —
L 4T — 5022
Total deferred tax assels . . ... .. ittt i e e 219,975 207,173
Valuation allowance . . ... ... . e (219,975 (207.173)
Netdeferred tax assels . ... ..ottt $ — & —

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are
uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation
f;llowance increased by $12.8 million, $43.9 million and $53.4 million in 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

A% of December 31, 2007, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards for federal and state income tax
purposes of approximately $418.7 millton and $389.8 million, respectively. These net operating losses can be
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utilized to reduce future taxable income, if any. Approximately $28.8 million of the federal and $27.2 million of the
state valuation allowance for deferred tax assets related to net operating loss carryforwards represent the stock
option deduction arising from activity under the Company’s stock option plan, the benefit of which will increase
additional paid in capital when realized. The federal net operating loss carryforwards expire beginning in 2008
through 2027, and the state net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2012 through 2017. As of
December 31, 2007, the Company has research and development credit and orphan drug credit carryforwards of
approximately $34.8 million for federal income tax purposes that expire beginning in 2008 through 2027 and
$4.2 million for California income tax purposes, which do not expire.

The Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48 “Account-
ing for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 487} on January 1,
2007,

As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, there was no effect to the opening balance of retained earnings, deferred taxes,
and net assets in the balance sheet of fiscal year 2007. The Company is in the process of completing an analysis to
determine if any unrecognized tax benefits exist in its deferred tax assets. Any additional uncertain tax positions
identified in the course of this analysis will not impact the financial statements due to the full valuation allowance.
As of the adoption date, the Company has estimated there are no unrecognized income tax benefits related to these
deferred tax assets, currently subject to a full valuation allowance. If recognized, these unrecognized income tax
benefits would affect the Company’s effective tax rate. During the year ended December 31, 2007, there was no
material change to the Company’s zero unrecognized income tax benefit recorded under FIN No. 48.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Balance at January 1, 2007 . . ... .. .. e e 50
Additions based on tax position related to the current year. . .. ... ... .ol 0
Additions for tax positions of prior years . ...... ... . i 0
Reductions of tax positions of prior year. . .. ... ..o e 0
SEUIEIIENIS . . o vt ittt ettt e e e ettt e e 0
Balance at December 31, 2007 . . . . ... e $0

The Company’s policy for classifying interest and penalties associated with unrecognized income tax benefits is to
include such items as tax expense. No interest or penalties have been recorded as of December 31, 2007.

The Company files federal and California tax returns. The tax years ended December 31, 2003 through 2007 remain
open to examination for federal tax purposes and the tax years December 31, 2000 to 2007 remain open to
examination for California tax purposes. Net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits remain open to
examination for three years after they are incurred or earned for federal tax purposes and four years for California
tax purposes. The Company is currently not under examination by the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing
authorities.

Note 13. Guarantees, Indemnifications and Contingencies
Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company has entered into indemnity agreements with certain of its officers and directors, which provide for
indemnification to the fullest extent authorized and permitted by Delaware law and the Company’s Bylaws. The
agreements also provide that the Company will indemnify, subject to certain limitations, the officer or director for
expenses, damages, judgments, fines and settlements he or she may be required to pay in actions or proceedings to
which he or she is or may be a party to because such person is or was a director, officer or other agent of the
Company. The term of the indemnification is for so long as the officer or director is subject to any possible claim, or
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threatened, pending or completed action or proceeding, by reason of the fact that such officer or director was serving
the Company as a director, officer or other agent. The rights conferred on the officer or director shall continue after
such person has ceased to be an officer or director as provided in the indemnity agreement. The maximum amount
of potential future indemnification is unlimited; however, the Company has a director and officer insurance policy
that limits its exposure and may enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid under the indemnity
agreements. The Company has not recorded any amounts as liabilities as of December 31, 2007 as the value of the
indemnification obligations, if any, is not estimable. .

Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become involved in claims and other legal matters arising in the ordinary
course of business. Management is not currently aware of any matters that could have a material adverse affect on
the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

Note 14. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quarterly financial data of the Company. The Company’s quarterly results of
operations for these periods are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations.
2007 Quarter Ended
December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

Total revenues $ - 5 - 3 - 3 -
Net loss (11,702). 555 (10,826) {12,195)
Basic and diluted net loss per share 0.21) 0.01 022) (0.26)

2006 Quarter Ended
December 31  September 30 June 30 March 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

Total revenues $ - $ 100 $ 150 § @ -
Net loss (20,707) (20,148) (31474)  (20,352)
Basic and diluted net loss per share (0.47) (0.49) (0.76) (0.49)

Note 15. Subsequent Events

On February 26, 2008, the Company announced that the retirement of Hollings C. Renton, chairman, president and
chief executive officer of Onyx, will be effective March 31, 2008. In connection with his retirement, Mr. Renton will
also resign from the Onyx board of directors effective March 31, 2008. Onyx also announced the appointment of N.
Anthony Coles, M.D. as the successor to Mr. Renton as the president and chief executive officer of Onyx, effective
March 31, 2008.
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Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
3D Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.
3.2(20) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.
3.3(3) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Cenrtificate of Incorporation.
3.4(13) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
4.1(1) Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4.
4.2(1) Specimen Stock Certificate.
10.1(12)* Collaboration Agreement between Bayer Corporation (formerly Miles, Inc.) and the Company

10.1()(12)*
10.1(iD)(12)*
10.2(8)*
10.2i)(8)*
10.2(ii)(8)*
10.2(iii)(8)*
10.2(iv)(8)*
10.2(v)(17)*
10.2(vi)(4)*

10.3(5)*

10.4(1)+
10.5(1)+
10.6(1)+
10.7(20)+
10.8()H+
10.9(10)+
10.10(2)*

10.10(i)(4)*
10.10Gi)(7)*
10.11(6)

10.12(9
10.12(1)(18)

dated April 22, 1994.

Amendment to Collaboration Agreement between Bayer Corporation and the Company dated
April 24, 1996.

Amendment to Collaboration Agreement between Bayer Corporation and the Company dated
February 1, 1999.

Amended and restated Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement dated
May 2, 1995 between the Company and Warner-Lambert Company.

Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement dated July 31, 1997 between the
Company and Wamner-Lambert Company.

Amendment to the Amended and Restated Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration
Agreement, dated December 15, 1997, between the Company and Warner-Lambert Company.

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Research, Development and Marketing
Agreement between Warner-Lambert and the Company dated May 2, 1995.

Second Amendment to Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement between
Warner-Lambert and the Company dated July 31, 1997.

Amendment #3 to the Research, Development and Marketing Collaboration Agreement between
the Company and Warner-Lambert dated August 6, 2001.

Amendment #3 to the Amended and Restated Research, Development and Marketing
Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert dated August 6, 2001,

Technology Transfer Agreement dated April 24, 1992 between Chiron Corporation and the
Company, as amended in the Chiron Onyx HPV Addendum dated December 2, 1992, in the
Amendment dated February 1, 1994, in the Letter Agreement dated May 20, 1994 and in the Letter
Agreement dated March 29, 1996.

Letter Agreement between Dr. Gregory Giotta and the Company dated May 26, 1995.

1996 Equity Incentive Plan,

1996 Non-Employee Directors” Stock Option Plan.

1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Form of Indemnity Agreement to be signed by executive officers and directors of the Company.
Form of Executive Change in Control Severance Benefits Agreement.

Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert Company dated October 13,
1699.

Amendment #1 to the Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Wamner-Lambert dated
August 6, 2001,

Second Amendment to the Collaboration Agreement between the Company and Warner-Lambert
Company dated September 16, 2002.

Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement between the Company and the investors dated May 6,
2002.

Sublease between the Company and Siebel Systems dated August 5, 2004,

First Amendment to Sublease between the Company and Cracle USA Inc., dated November 3,
2006.
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Exhibit )
Number Description of Document

10.13¢20)+ 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.13(i)(18)+ Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.13(ii)(18)+ Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan and the Non-

Discretionary Grant Program for Directors.

10.14(11)* United States Co-Promotion Agreement by and between the Company and Bayer Pharmaceuticals

Corporation, dated March 6, 2006.

10.15(14)+ Letter Agreement between Laura A. Brege and the Company, dated May 19, 2006.
10.16(15)+ Letter Agreement between Gregory W. Schafer and the Company. dated July 7, 2006.
10.17(15)+ Form of Stock Bonus Award Grant Notice and Agreement between the Company and certain

award recipients.

10.18(16) Common Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company and Azimuth Opportunity Lid., dated

September 29, 2006,

10.19(19)+ Retirement Agreement between the Company and Edward F. Kenney, dated April 13, 2007.
10.20(19)+ 2007 Benus Plan Summary
1021021+ Bonuses for Fiscal Year 2007 and Base Salaries for Fiscal Year 2008 for Named Executive

23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
32.1

(1
2)
(3)
4
&)

(6)
(7
{8

&)

(10)
(1)
(12)

Officers.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney. Reference is made to the signature page.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
Certification of Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

Certifications required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b)and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of
Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.5.C. 1350).

Confidential treatment has been received for portions of this document,

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (No. 333-3176-LA).

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Registration Statement on Form $-3 filed on June 5, 2002 (No. 333-89850).
Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.
Filed as an exhibit to Onyx's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.
Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005.
Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006.
Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Comimission.
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(13) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Registration Statement on Form 5-3 (No. 333-134565) filed on May 30, 2006.
(14) Filed as an exhibit to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 12, 2006,

(15) Filed as an exhibit to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 12, 2006.

(16) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2006.

(17) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006. The
redactions to this agreement have been amended since its original filing in accordance with a request for
extension of confidential treatment filed separately by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

(18) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.
(19) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007.
(20) Fited as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 25, 2007.

{21) Filed as an exhibit to Onyx’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2008.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Hollings C. Renton, Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certify that:

1. ] have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors {or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a)

b)

Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: February_28, 2008 e

I Z{‘QQEM;%M
H . o T

Hollings C. ton
. Chairman of th€ Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

1, Gregory W. Schafer, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certify that:
1. 1have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in ali
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant's internal control over ﬁnanﬁ repoftng.
Dated: February 28, 2008 b\/m

Gregory W. Schafer !
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)
and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. § 1350), Hollings C. Renton, Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”), and Gregory W. Schafer, Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certify that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2007, to which this Certification is attached as
Exhibit 32.1 (the “Annua! Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act;
and

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in ail material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Dated: February 28, 2008

ZLQM qu./q‘—\
Hollings C.@enton

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Gregory W. Schafer
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Rule 13(a)- 14(b) of the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title
18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. § 1350) has been provided to Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and will be retained by Onyx
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

“This certification accompanies the Form 10-K to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Onyx Pharmaceuticals, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-K), irrespective of any
general incorporation language contained in such filing.”




SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Emeryville,
County of Alameda, State of California, on the 28th day of February, 2008.

ONYX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

«
By:
H({l)ings C. Renton
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief Executive Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints
Hollings C. Renton and Gregory W. Schafer or either of them, his or her attorney-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him
or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits
thereto and other documents in connections therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming
all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

In accordance with the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates stated.

Stgnature Title Date
h
Chairman of the Board, February 28, 2008
Ho}jhks C. Renton President and Chief Executive Officer
C_/Q_/\ (Principal Executive Cfficer)
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